

The Code of Conduct on Prevention of School-Related Gender-Based Violence: A study of policy enactment in Ethiopia

Jo Heslop, Jenny Parkes, Freya Johnson Ross Firehiwot Alito, Ellen Turner UCL Institute of Education, London, February 2019





Ministry of Education Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia







Acknowledgments

The authors are very grateful to the Government of Ethiopia - especially Ministry of Education - and UNICEF Ethiopia for their invaluable inputs and feedback starting from the inception of the study. Special thanks also goes to Tiye Feyisa, Dorothy Angura, Emmanuelle Abrioux and colleagues at UNICEF Ethiopia for their help with all stages of the study. In addition, sincere thanks are extended to Hanna Mersha for her valuable help with data collection, and to William Nicholas for assistance with the production of the report. Gratitude is also extended to colleagues at UNICEF headquarters, United National Girls Education Initiative (UNGEI) and to the Global Partnership for Education (GPE) for their support for End Gender Violence in Schools. The authors would like to express their gratitude to all the students, school stakeholders and key informants from government bodies who participated and shared their time, experience, views and knowledge.

Photo Credit Front Cover @UN Photo/Eskinder Debeber

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	1
Abbreviations	4
Executive Summary	5
1. Introduction	9
2. A brief review of concepts and literature	11
2.1 School-related gender-based violence: evidence from previous studies in Ethiopia	11
2.2 Literature on enacting Codes of Conduct to address violence in schools	13
3. Methodology	17
3.1 Research design	17
3.2 The research process and ethical issues	19
3.3 Approvals, permissions and consent	19
4. Findings: School-related gender-based violence in the study schools	22
4.1 The study schools	22
4.2 Corporal punishment	22
4.3 Bullying	24
4.4 Sexual harassment and coercive sex and relationships	24
4.5 Child abuse	26
4.6 Child marriage	28
5. Introduction and roll-out of the code: the national and regional perspective	
5.1 Development of the Code	30
5.2 Debates around the Code of Conduct	30
5.3 Roll-out of the code	32
5.3.1 National level	32
5.3.2 Regional level	32
6. Enactment of the Code of Conduct in schools	34
6.1 Knowledge and awareness of the Code in schools	34
6.2 SRGBV Committees	35
6.3 Teaching on SRGBV and the Code, and the Gender Focal Teacher	39
6.4 Student participation and gender clubs	40
6.5 Schools working on SRGBV with community members and services	41
7. Monitoring the Code and informing policy	45
7.1 Development and roll-out of the Violence Reporting Template	45
7.2 Interpreting and using data from the VRT	46
7.3 Additional monitoring of the Code of Conduct	47

7.4 Violence data and EMIS	48
8. Conclusion and Recommendations	50
References	55
Appendices	57
Appendix 1 - Code of Conduct on Prevention of SRGBV in Schools, MoE, 2014	57
Appendix 2 - SRGBV reporting template	103

Abbreviations

DHS	Demographic and Health Survey
EGVS	End Gender Violence in Schools
EI	Education International
EMIS	Education Management Information System
FDRE	Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia
FGD	Focus Group Discussion
GEQIP	General Education Quality Improvement Project
GFP	Gender Focal Person
GFT	Gender Focal Teacher
IPV	Intimate Partner Violence
MoE	Ministry of Education
MOCWA	Ministry of Children and Women's Affairs.
NGO	Non-governmental organisation
PTSA	Parent Teacher and Student Association
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
VRT	Violence Reporting Template
SRGBV	School-related gender-based violence
TVET	Technical and vocational education and training

Executive Summary

There has been very little research globally on the implementation of national policy interventions to address School-Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV). SRGBV describes physical, sexual and psychological acts of violence in and around schools, underpinned by unequal access to resources and power, and inequitable norms and stereotypes based on gender. A key intervention of governments around the world has been to develop Codes of Conduct for school communities, that set professional standards and hold staff and students accountable for SRGBV and other forms of misconduct. Yet there are few studies that look in depth at how these codes have been implemented in schools. In Ethiopia, a Code of Conduct on Prevention of SRGBV in Schools was introduced in 2014 and has been rolled out in all regions across Ethiopia. In addition, a Violence Reporting Tool (VRT) was developed to gather data on incidents of violence in schools. In 2017, the Ministry of Education (MoE) and UNICEF Ethiopia prioritised a study to look in depth at how the Code was understood and used at national, regional, district and in particular at school levels. The findings from the study will help to inform the MoE's review of the Code and the reporting tools, thus having potential to make an important contribution to improving the safety of girls and boys in and around schools in Ethiopia. The study will also help to build knowledge globally about the challenges and potential for Codes of Conduct, and related work to prevent and respond to violence in schools.

Methodology

This study employed a descriptive qualitative research method. It is part of the End Gender Violence in Schools (EGVS) initiative, a three year (2014-17) collaborative, action research project involving UNICEF, the UCL Institute of Education, and the Governments of Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Togo and Zambia, with support from the Global Partnership for Education and the UN Girls Education Initiative. EGVS aims to build evidence to better understand, inform and strengthen the process of policy enactment on school-related gender-based violence. Following a scoping study of policy and practice on SRGBV in Ethiopia, the Ministry of Education and UNICEF prioritised further research on the Code of Conduct. The research design was developed by UCL Institute of Education, in collaboration with UNICEF and the Ministry of Education.

The aim of the study is to investigate how the Code of Conduct has been enacted in Ethiopia to prevent and respond to SRGBV in general and to find out how school members, including teachers and students, understand, interpret and enact the Code in particular. Data was collected from six schools in Addis Ababa and Amhara, to provide evidence from rural and urban settings and from schools at different levels of enacting the Code. In-depth interviews and Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) were conducted with purposively sampled students, school personnel, community and local government stakeholders. In addition, national and regional level data was gathered through key informant interviews with national and regional governmental and non-governmental stakeholders, and the Code of Conduct and Violence Reporting Template documents were reviewed. Overall, 108 school students and 34 adult key informants participated in the study.

Key findings

SRGBV in the six schools: Girls and boys at the six schools described commonplace experiences of corporal punishment and bullying, often taking gendered forms, and rarely reported as students do not think their concerns will be taken seriously, or are afraid of repercussions. Sexual harassment was also extensive and an everyday feature of girls' lives in schools and communities, particularly among the girls in Addis. Schools are also addressing forms of violence experienced by students outside school, such as sexual or extreme physical violence at home or in the community. The social stigma

around teenage sex generated assumptions that all sexual encounters involving young people were coercive and unwanted, rather than consensual, and inhibited reporting. Outside school in Addis, girls working as domestic workers were at high risk of exploitation, while in Amhara child marriage was still commonplace although reducing. In both sites, the high levels of poverty exacerbated the risks of SRGBV for girls and boys.

Development and roll-out of the Code: The roll-out of the code has begun in all regions of the country, including modification and translation in some cases to ensure its relevance and applicability. The main modes of this involved the distribution of printed copies of the code itself, and the delivery of training that should be cascaded down from regional to school level via the relevant actors at woreda or sub-city level. However, the consistency of this was not uniform, and there were some concerns that the Gender Focal Persons tasked at each level with responsibility for training, dissemination and support for those at the next level in additional to main workload lacked status, resources and time for this work.

Knowledge of the Code in schools: Data from interviews with school directors, gender focal teachers and SRGBV committee members and FGDs with students show that there was some awareness of the Code in most of the schools, but the level of knowledge varied between and within schools, often according to the way information was being shared by School Directors, Gender Focal Teachers and gender clubs. Some felt that the growing awareness enabled students to speak out about such violence, and acted as a deterrent for perpetrators, thus improving the safety of the school environment. Initial training introducing the Code needed to be regularly repeated to embed work on SRGBV within institutional cultures of schools. Views varied on the scope of the Code, with narrow interpretations sometimes excluding corporal punishment and bullying, and violence against boys.

SRGBV Committees in schools: SRGBV Committees had been established in all the schools, and the breadth, with seven members including students, administrative and teaching staff, representatives of Ethiopian Teachers associations and Parent Teacher Student Associations (PTSA), has good potential for buy in from across the school community. Though committees are established in all schools, in some schools the establishment is very recent with the committee not yet fully functioning, which made it difficult for the researchers to assess the implementation of the Code. In most of the schools, the SRGBV Committees were contributing to building awareness about SRGBV in the school community. However, much violence experienced by students was not reported and few reports of violence were reaching Committees for investigation. Where Committees were well established they were often used for the more serious forms of violence in communities. Students were reluctant to report because they doubted they would be supported, or lacked confidence that their cases would be kept confidential; staff sometimes minimised or were unaware of the amount of violence that was taking place. It may be particularly difficult for a student to report violence by teachers to a committee comprised only of members of the school community. While the brevity and clarity of the Code was praised, some questioned whether the sanctions were fair or would be effective, for example in ensuring a teacher who has been dismissed is not able to teach in another zone. Safety of Committee members was a concern where they may face reprisals for intervening, and some felt they needed extra support, especially from the law enforcement bodies.

Role of the Gender Focal Teacher and Gender Clubs: In schools where awareness about the Code was strong, the Gender Focal Teacher played a key role – in supporting students, running the Gender Clubs, training around SRGBV, and driving the work of the SRGBV Committee. Recognition for this skilled work, ongoing support and short-term trainings are important for enabling these teachers to strengthen the SRGBV work in schools. In addition, these teachers need to be supported in terms of reducing their teaching load, which all raised as a challenge, so that they can effectively perform the

work of gender club and SRGBV committee. Student participation in school-based work on SRGBV was good, with gender clubs well established in most schools. Gender clubs contributed to awareness building, and in some cases provided safe spaces for encouraging reporting, as well as engaging in a wide range of activities to support equity and inclusion. Adequate funding is needed to support this valuable preventive work in schools, and additional training guidance would help this work address the roots of SRGBV.

School links with communities and services: Sometimes school members intervened on incidents taking place outside school, including child marriage, physical or sexual violence, raising the question of whether the Code should be broadened to address community-based violence. While the Gender Focal Points in the Woreda Education Offices in some cases provided valuable support for complex cases, there were mixed views on the support of hospitals, police and justice systems, with concerns raised about cases being dropped and perpetrators released on bail because of corruption, or victims' inability to pay hospital fees. More preventive work in communities, including improving dialogue on addressing norms, risks, and gender-based violence, and drawing on professional expertise to support school-based training would support schools' efforts to combat SRGBV.

Monitoring SRGBV, the Code of Conduct and informing policy: In all six schools there was some familiarity with the Violence Reporting Tool (VRT), which is a monitoring tool collecting data on violence in schools. However, there was inconsistency in how the tool is understood and used, some concerns over lack of alignment with the Code of Conduct, and many participants – particularly at school and woreda level - were unclear about its purpose. With much underreporting, the VRT as currently used cannot provide accurate data to inform policy. There are plans to strengthen the way such data can be used after it is incorporated in the education management information system (EMIS) but in order to be effective, some rethinking of key indicators is needed.

Recommendations for the Code of Conduct in Ethiopia

- Consider a two-tier committee at the school level one which addresses more everyday
 forms of violence, especially between students, in a more informal way and plans prevention
 work on school safety and equity, and one including representatives from the local
 administration and other ministries/services which looks at the more serious cases of
 violence for referral pathways and services.
- Include bullying, corporal punishment and child marriage in the Code, and ensure that unequal power relations are central to defining forms of and sanctions for SRGBV. Consider staged sanctions for repeated mild offences.
- Consider developing high quality training guides to help different groups (e.g. teachers, students, school leadership, communities) reflect on and discuss the underlying causes of violence (e.g. gender norms and stigma) and what can be changed, acknowledging the difficult position those taking action on violence are often put in, leading to achievable action planning.
- Train and support Gender Focal Teachers and school leaders to embed work on SRGBV in structures, processes and cultures at schools.
- Clarify links, roles and responsibilities of the school and other authorities in different cases of violence, and work to improve services (e.g. police) to ensure they are fit for purpose.
- Ensure that professional psychological support is available for victims, that confidentiality of cases is safeguarded and that social protection support system is able to look after children who have no safe home care.

- Ensure the Code addresses protection of victims and the SRGBV committee after reporting and sanctions for threats against them. Ensure that sanctions are enacted, for example a database to ensure sacked teachers are not employed elsewhere.
- Consider a more holistic but simplified monitoring tool to improve accuracy and usefulness in informing policy and practice at different levels. Consider integrating a few indicators on school efforts on SRGBV with a reflective summary to help integrate reporting and support requirements. Consider feasibility of harmonising these indicators with those for Child Protection.
- Include SRGBV prevention and monitoring as one of the inspection criteria for safer learning environments
- Ensure that plans are adequately costed and schools have sufficient funds to implement the Code of Conduct and supporting activities, such as the Gender Clubs. Build into existing school planning and grant systems where possible, such as school grants through GEQIP.

Global Recommendations:

- Development of Codes of Conduct will be more effective if they draw on:
 - o detailed contextual evidence on SRGBV and underpinning norms and inequalities
 - a review of current policies, structures and approaches and their effectiveness in the country
 - o global best practice in effectively addressing SRGBV
 - broad participation from multiple organisations and constituencies at different levels, including school students and staff
- Careful balancing of top-down policy guidance and local ownership is important: in this sense a flexible code accompanied by guides for reflection and action planning at local level could be the most useful.
- Political commitment and strong structures (such as the gender focal persons and gender clubs in Ethiopia) are valuable in supporting enactment of a Code of Conduct.
- Significant resources are required to do this effectively, and partnerships with organisations with expertise in these areas could be beneficial.
- Finally, Codes of Conduct should go beyond punishment, to supporting the expertise of school communities, including adults and students, in preventing violence and helping to create safer, more equitable sites for learning.

1. Introduction

School-related gender-based violence (SRGBV) is a growing concern in Ethiopia and globally, with increasing efforts being made to collect evidence and take action to make schools safer places (Parkes et al., 2016, Parkes et al., 2017b). In recognition of this, UNICEF and the government of Ethiopia engaged in the End Gender Violence in Schools (EGVS) initiative, a collaborative, action research project involving UNICEF, the UCL Institute of Education, and the Governments of Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Togo and Zambia, with funding support from the Global Partnership for Education. EGVS aims to build evidence to better understand, inform and strengthen the process of policy enactment on school-related gender-based violence in each of the four countries. Findings from the initiative will also contribute to global debates on understanding and tackling SRGBV.

As part of this initiative, a Scoping Study was undertaken in 2016 (Parkes et al., 2017b) which reviewed the evidence on and efforts to curb and monitor SRGBV in Ethiopia. The study identified a range of initiatives undertaken by the Government of Ethiopia. In particular, the Code of Conduct was identified as a key strategy to address SRGBV, supporting aims to ensure safe schools and mainstream gender in education in Ethiopia's Education Sector Development Plan (ESDP V). The Code defines forms of SRGBV and sets out sanctions for students or teachers who perpetrate violence. It also describes structures and procedures at school level for addressing SRGBV (FDRE MoE, 2014). The Code was introduced in 2014 and has been rolled out in all regions across Ethiopia, although it is not yet fully operational in all schools. It has potential to fill an important gap in responding to SRGBV and providing evidence on a large scale. Initial findings in the Scoping Study identified opportunities, challenges and gaps where more focused research would be beneficial to evaluate the Code of Conduct's implementation, which is still in its pilot phase. The MoE prioritised this work for further investigation.

Hence this research aims to investigate the enactment of the Code of Conduct. The term 'enactment' understands policy making and implementation as a continuous, interactive, and often 'messy' process involving a wide range of actors at multiple levels and shaped by ideas, institutions and power relations (Ball et al., 2012). It is a valuable framing for analysing the Code in Ethiopia because it recognises the complexity of how policies are interpreted, translated and put into practice at many different levels. The study investigated the development and roll-out of the Code of Conduct; how SRGBV is experienced and responded to; how the Code has been understood and used in the schools; how the Code has been monitored (including the Violence Reporting Template, a tool accompanying the Code) and how it informs policy and practice. This qualitative study involving 142 participants from national to school level was a collaboration between the Government of Ethiopia, UNICEF, and researchers at the UCL Institute of Education working alongside a local consultant. There are very few national systems addressing SRGBV globally, and even fewer that have been researched or evaluated. These findings will be of interest to the Ethiopian Ministry of Education, other government ministries and cooperating partners. They will also be of interest to those working at sub-national level on implementing the Code of Conduct in Ethiopia, and to international audiences looking to develop approaches to combat SRGBV in other countries.

The report is organised into eight main sections. Following this introduction, section two details background for the study, drawing on national and global literature. In particular, it looks firstly at how we conceptualise SRGBV and how it is manifested in Ethiopia, drawing from existing studies, and secondly draws together the evidence and learning available on Codes of Conduct across the world. The third section describes the study methodology, including how ethical issues were addressed. Sections four to seven set out the analysis and findings of the study. These include how SRGBV is experienced and responded to in the study schools (section 4), how the Code was introduced and rolled out (section 5), how the Code has been enacted in schools (section 6), and how the Code has been monitored and informs practice (section 7). The eighth and final section draws conclusions and provides recommendations for the Government of Ethiopia and other cooperating partners and the wider development community.

2. A brief review of concepts and literature

2.1 School-related gender-based violence: evidence from previous studies in Ethiopia

School-related gender-based violence (SRGBV) describes physical, sexual and psychological acts of gender driven violence in and around schools, underpinned by unequal access to resources and power, and inequitable norms and stereotypes according to gender. For EGVS, UCL Institute of Education in partnership with UNICEF undertook scoping studies in Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Togo and Zambia on policy, practice and evidence on SRGBV in 2016 (Parkes et al., 2017). Drawing on these four studies, a conceptual framework of SRGBV was developed, portraying a range of acts of violence experienced by girls and boys that have their roots in inequalities, norms, exclusions and stigma within everyday interactions and in institutions and structures of society. This multi-dimensional model highlights a complex interplay between structures, relationships and action driving violence.



Figure 1 - A multi-dimensional framing of SRGBV

The scoping study undertaken in Ethiopia identified multiple forms of SRGBV experienced across the country. Similar to other countries, patterns of violence are related to current and historic political and economic conditions, institutional structures, and socio-cultural factors – as depicted in the outer layer of the diagram. Gender inequalities disadvantaging women and girls are extensive and persistent. Acts of violence take place within everyday interactions in children's lives. For example, the scoping study found that some forms of violence (such as sexual harassment and corporal punishment) were commonplace and taken for granted as normal within everyday relationships in classrooms, homes and communities (Parkes et al., 2017b).

Corporal punishment persists in schools, despite legal bans (Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, 1995). A recent study in five provinces in Ethiopia found that corporal punishment in schools was commonplace for girls and boys (it had been experienced in the past week by 31% of the 8 year old girls surveyed and 44% of the boys), with girls and boys often punished for different reasons and with different levels of severity (Pankhurst et al., 2016). Outlawing corporal punishment on its own does not appear to be effective in eradicating this form of violence, and points to the need to address the

school environment and relationships, including addressing teachers' gender stereotypes as well as teacher training in alternative classroom management and discipline methods.

Studies also show how stereotypes and prejudice are evident in practices of **bullying** between students. Bullying includes repeated aggressive behaviour with imbalance of power and intent to hurt, and can be physical or verbal, as well as online. A mixed methodology study in Ethiopia found that boys, as well as out of school children, were at particular risk of physical and verbal bullying, while girls tended to be bullied in indirect ways (Pells et al., 2016). This study showed how bullying was used to reproduce hierarchies of power, and to reinforce gender norms, with for example, girls being intimidated by boys harassing them at the school toilets and on the journey to school. Another study found that girls and boys were discriminated against because of poverty; for example, one 14 year old girl told researchers that she was insulted and bullied by girls and boys because her family was poor and she was from a minority ethnic group (Pankhurst et al., 2016).

The evidence from Ethiopia as elsewhere indicates that girls are more likely than boys to experience all forms of *sexual violence*. One study of violence against girls in primary and secondary schools in nine regions of Ethiopia found that 46% of students spoke of sexual harassment, degrading treatment and sexual attacks, most frequently on the journey to and from school, but also in school compounds, with perpetrators including male students and older men (Save the Children et al., 2008).

It is important to unpack these different, though overlapping, forms of sexual violence, as differing forms of intervention may be needed. *Child sex abuse*, for example, is illegal, yet few cases of sexual abuse reach the police or justice system (Hailemariam, 2015, MENET-UNICEF, 2015). Girls may be deterred from speaking out for a range of reasons, including fear of stigma and punishment (Erulkar, 2013), shame and self-blame, or not even recognising harmful acts as violations (Kebede et al., 2014). One study in a secondary school in Addis Ababa found that girls often did not report sexual violence because of lack of systems in school to support them after disclosure (Le Mat, 2016). Reporting and referral systems are therefore important for interventions. At the same time, child protection referrals are not always the most appropriate intervention in cases of more mild forms of *sexual harassment*. For example, sexual teasing in school may be better managed through preventive approaches like working with girls and boys on life skills and relationships education, to reflect on and challenge gender norms (Le Mat, 2016).

Reviewing a large number of different studies relating to young people's experience of violence in Ethiopia, Emebet Mulugeta (2016) traced how dimensions of poverty impacted on young women's experiences of sexual violence. She found that vulnerability to sexual violence was particularly high for young women living away from families, engaged in domestic labour, commercial sex work, or living on the streets. Other studies show girls may be coerced into sex with teachers or older men, in exchange for food or grades (Hailemariam, 2015). There is a clear link here between the acts of violence, and the intersecting gendered and socio-economic inequalities that create the conditions for this to happen. Intergenerational and transactional sexual relationships reflect an overlap and blurring between child sexual abuse and intimate partner violence.

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) includes any behaviour in an intimate relationship that causes sexual, physical or psychological harm between intimate partners of a similar age when under 18 (for the purposes of work on SRGBV). It includes controlling behaviour, where for example a boyfriend controls his girlfriend's movements, or her access to resources, and coerced and forced sex. IPV is sometimes not seen as school related, but it is in and around schools that boys and girls often learn about how to conduct such relationships, and relationships at this age can impact on educational experience. Much of the research in this area is with adult women, but a number of studies have found that it is

commonplace for girls' first experiences of sex to have been forced – girls married under the age of 15 were particularly vulnerable to forced marital sex and IPV, based on a sample of 1,671 women (Erulkar, 2013). Child marriage, female genital mutilation, and abduction/ "telefa" (Dito, 2015) are reducing though still commonplace, particularly in rural areas (DHS, 2016). But IPV is not limited to married adolescent girls, with 23% of male secondary school students in a study in Eastern Ethiopia saying that they had physically forced sexual intercourse (Bekele, 2012). Often women blame themselves for the violence they experience, with 63% of 15-49 year olds agreeing that it is justified for a man to beat his wife in some cases, compared to only 28% of men who agreed with the practice (DHS, 2016). These beliefs of men's rights to control women reflect the internalisation of violence and acceptance of submissive cultural norms by many women. However, these aggregate proportions mask considerable variation among women with acceptance of wife beating much more common in rural areas, amongst women believe they have a right to refuse sex or feel able to negotiate sex in some circumstances (DHS, 2016). There is evidence that attitudes are changing, with acceptance of wife beating steadily reducing since 2000 (DHS, 2016).

Evidence in Ethiopia and elsewhere highlights how taboos and norms can prevent children from reporting violence. For example, taboos on sexuality can lead to victims of sexual violence being blamed or feeling shamed about their experience, constraining their ability to take action (Kebede et al., 2014, Heslop et al., 2015). One study in Ethiopia identified how silences about sexuality underpin much of sexual violence, and highlighted the importance of non-judgemental spaces for girls and boys to discuss their concerns about sexual violence and relationships (Altinyelken and Le Mat, 2017).

This brief discussion of research shows how different forms of violence affect children's lives in Ethiopia, shaped within relationships in and out of school where acts of violence serve to discriminate against and stigmatise particular children, reinforce inequitable norms, and reproduce inequalities. The studies show that different locations and relationships have a bearing on prevalence of experiences of forms of SRGBV. We now turn to the international literature on how education systems take action on SRGBV.

2.2 Literature on enacting Codes of Conduct to address violence in schools

As part of the End Gender Violence in School initiative, in 2015 the UCL Institute of Education undertook a rigorous literature review of evidence on effort to address SRGBV globally (Parkes et al., 2016). It identified that whilst there is increasing evidence globally on understanding how SRGBV is manifest, there is limited evidence on which interventions in which contexts are effective in addressing SRGBV. Many of the most rigorously evaluated interventions consist of externally funded, short term, standalone programmes taking place either in or outside of schools – often on *preventing* violence through raising awareness and dialogue – but do not work with multiple groups, locations or levels. The review identified that few studies examined interventions implemented across levels of the education system to tackle SRGBV. It highlighted the need to strengthen accountability of schools through codes of conduct being implemented and evaluated (Parkes et al., 2016). However, a few studies have investigated school-based approaches to implementing codes of conduct and provide useful insights for this study. These include those evaluating development and implementation of policies and systems for managing both student behaviour and teacher conduct, as well as for educating school communities and wider communities about forms of SRGBV. Learnings from these studies are discussed in this section.

Some of these have been oriented towards managing student violent behaviour. One study looked at the introduction of a safe schools code of conduct in one state in Canada and one in the US (Winton, 2011). The interpretation in the US schools and district authorities amounted to a zero tolerance approach to any form of actual or potentially violent behaviour, which resulted in extremely high

levels of expulsions from schools, particularly targeting black and economically disadvantaged boys, even when offences were not serious. This was despite the fact that this punitive approach was not integral to the content of the code. Meanwhile, the Canadian education authorities developed a more inclusive and less punitive interpretation of the code, facilitated by their partnership with the Human Rights Commission on the initiative. Another US study examined whether and how districts and schools developed and enacted a code of conduct responding to teen dating violence, as mandated by new state legislation (Jackson et al., 2014). The codes were expected to address response (such as protection orders), as well as victim support, teacher training and student awareness raising. The study found that in the vast majority of cases across the state, the emphasis was on distributing the code, highlighting definitions and consequences to students and parents in written form. Little attention was paid to raising awareness among school communities or providing victim support, which limited the impact of the introduction of the code. These studies highlight how well-meaning policy initiatives can be interpreted narrowly, emphasising information giving and punitive approaches that do not address the roots of the problem. They also highlight that partnerships between education authorities and rights-based organisations can add value in helping create a holistic response.

A number of global reviews and guidance documents have advocated 'whole school approaches' for improving school safety. These address multiple areas including: leadership, policy development, curriculum planning, school ethos, student voice and partnerships with parents and local communities (Mitchell et al., 2014, Fancy and McAslan Fraser, 2014, Fancy and McAslan Fraser, 2014b). Some of the most effective approaches to addressing violence in schools involve multiple members of the school community, such as leaders, teachers, students and parents. There can be tensions between top-down versus bottom up approaches. Broad participation in the development and management of codes of conduct have been found to be important for school level ownership and commitment to creating safer schools and ensuring that codes are contextually relevant (Mestry and Khumalo, 2012, Levinsky, 2016, Hong, 2008). At the same time, other studies, such as those above in the US and others in South Africa have highlighted the risks of poor quality local implementation when training or support or monitoring for schools is not in place (Winton, 2011, Jackson et al., 2014, Jansen, 2004).

Some research suggests that a process supporting schools to develop their own code can be highly effective if supported by a carefully developed programme with step-by-step guidance and skilled facilitators. The Good Schools Toolkit in Uganda – developed by Ugandan NGO Raising Voices - has six steps that take schools through a process of change. This includes developing an action plan following initial information gathering with the school community (including teachers, parents and students), and activity guides related to creating a better learning environment, respecting each other, understanding power relationships, using non-violent discipline, and how to improve teaching techniques. NGO staff members provide one-to-one support to two teachers and at least two students who take on a leading role in each school. A Randomised Control Trial demonstrated that the intervention reduced violence considerably (Devries et al., 2015). However, there may be limits to the sustainability of such a programme that requires such intensive external intervention, and consideration of if and how such a programme could be integrated more widely into an education system is needed.

Some research has addressed teacher codes of conduct specifically. One study investigated different Australian states' teachers' codes of conduct/ethics (Forster, 2012). The author highlights two trends in the codes, tending towards either 'aspirational' or 'procedural/regulatory' policies. 'Aspirational' policies aim to inspire and promote particular values among teachers, performing a non-disciplinary role. 'Regulatory' policies aim to ensure professionalism according to a strict set of moral codes and enforce disciplinary action. Currently, Australian policies are moving towards 'aspirational' policies, and there is a focus on promoting teacher competencies, and 'autonomous ethical judgment', rather than stipulating necessary action. In South Africa, studies have highlighted how implementation of a code for teachers has been hampered in disadvantaged areas because of the sub-optimal conditions teachers were working in, and their sense of alienation from central policy makers. For example, many

teachers said they had had insufficient training, their class sizes were too large and living conditions poor, and that they did not feel able to control student behaviours without using corporal punishment (Mestry and Khumalo, 2012). Some have pointed to different expectations and support around teacher ethics, professionalism and commitment linked to teacher status and training and wider social norms in different contexts, which influence how effective policies are (Anangisye, 2011). For example, introducing an empowering approach could be more challenging if basic conditions supporting effective teaching are not in place. This points to the importance of looking at how wider school and policy conditions affect violence, work with teachers and school leadership on support with alternative approaches to discipline. It highlights the importance of approaches being carefully tailored to context. A current initiative by UNGEI and Education International (EI) is addressing these issues through working with teacher unions in multiple countries on approaches to SRGBV.

As discussed in the previous section, norms and values about gender, sexuality, childhood and discipline are powerful in preventing students reporting and others taking action on violence. Studies in sub-Saharan Africa have highlighted how teachers have struggled to use empowering and nonjudgemental approaches when teaching about gender violence and sexual relationships (McLaughlin et al., 2015, Heslop et al., 2015). Codes of conduct that have effectively addressed norms underlying violence have tended to use reflective approaches that help teachers or school leaders to consider their own values, understandings and experience of violence and gender (Daluxolo and Moletsane, 2015, McLaughlin et al., 2015, Heslop et al., 2015). Rather than treating training as transference of knowledge (for example about types, causes, consequences and support available for violence), the act of considering personal and emotional underpinnings and repercussions of violence can have a powerful transformative effect in actors thinking differently about violence and moving towards taking effective action (Reid, 2009). These training approaches have enabled teachers to make work with students, such as life skills lessons, more relevant to student concerns (Daluxolo and Moletsane, 2015, McLaughlin et al., 2015, Altinyelken and Le Mat, 2017, Le Mat, 2016). This kind of work addressing norms with school staff and students is important in supporting the effective implementation of Codes of Conduct.

Whether interventions have focused on working with teachers or the whole school community, evidence from across different countries highlights that any training is most effective when dialogic and reflective approaches are used (as opposed to purely fact-based or regulatory), and when a broad range of participants are involved. For example, a study in Spain found that bringing in different perspectives at school level (including students, parents, teachers and experts) through a task group on SRGBV challenged negative normalised practices (Oliver et al., 2009). Rather than dismissing a case perceived as minor sexual harassment, teachers in the task team were more likely to intervene and develop strategies following discussions that enabled them to see how others felt. Collaboration and solidarity contributed to strengthening the capacity of school members to intervene on SRGBV.

Studies have tended to focus on the school level and not look closely at the role of ongoing monitoring and support, particularly through the education system. Whilst some studies have involved external non-governmental organisations providing training and support for schools, evidence has highlighted that ongoing support for changing practice rather than one off training workshops is important (Oliver et al., 2009, Reid, 2009).

This review of global evidence on approaches to addressing SRGBV in schools raises a number of pertinent questions for the analysis of Ethiopia's Code of Conduct, concerning whether and how the Code:

- Addresses violence holistically, including prevention, response and support for victims;
- Identifies and addresses barriers to taking action on violence, such as poor law enforcement, impunity for perpetrators, inadequate reporting mechanisms, fear of repercussions, stigma, lack of support for victims, lack of female or sympathetic teachers;

- Engages the whole school community (including parents) in reflecting on violence and its causes;
- Aims for empowering rather than regulatory or punitive approaches;
- Ensures that schools are supported with reflective training to help address norms that underpin violence;
- Ensures ongoing support, monitoring and evaluation of the code;
- Is informed by contextual analysis.

These questions are addressed further in our discussion of the study findings below.

3. Methodology

3.1 Research design

This study employed a qualitative cross-sectional research design - conducted in a single period in time and allowing us to examine questions in detail (Neuman and Robson, 2007) The main aim of the study is to examine how the Code of Conduct to prevent SRGBV has been implemented in Ethiopia. In particular, the study aims to understand how school members, including teachers and students, interpret and enact the Code in Addis Ababa and Amhara. A total of 142 school, woreda, regional and national level participants took part in the study. The overall research design was developed by UCL Institute of Education, in collaboration with UNICEF, Ethiopia Ministry of Education and UNICEF, and addresses the following research questions:

- 1. What is the level of enactment of the SRGBV Code of Conduct in Ethiopia? In particular, which regions have adapted, disseminated and rolled out the Code, and what is the coverage across the regions?
- 2. How is SRGBV understood, experienced and shaped in six schools in Amhara and Addis Ababa regions? How does this link to the Code of Conduct?
- 3. How is the Code of Conduct being used in these schools? Is it being used as was intended? If not, why not? How does the Code relate to other school policies, protocols and initiatives?
- 4. How is the Violence Reporting Tool understood and used, and how does it link to the Code of Conduct? How else is the Code monitored, and how does learning feed in to policy and practice?
- 5. How can the Code of Conduct and its implementation be improved?

Thus, investigating policy enactment is at the heart of this study. The term 'enactment' understands policy making and implementation as a continuous, interactive, and often 'messy' process involving a wide range of actors at multiple levels and shaped by ideas, institutions and power relations (Ball et al., 2012). It is a valuable framing for analysing the Code in Ethiopia because it recognises the complexity of how policies are interpreted, translated and put into practice at many different levels. This framing meant that a qualitative study would be appropriate, in order to examine in depth how the Code was interpreted and acted upon by a range of different actors, including students, in different contexts. We were also interested in how more everyday and accepted forms of violence can reinforce gender inequalities and underlie more serious or extreme forms of violence. Hence, we attempted to understand the dynamics, sensitivities and taboos around SRGBV, which can influence the use of the Code of Conduct.

The research design incorporated two levels.

Level 1: National and regional assessment

The national assessment aimed to provide an overview of the Code of Conduct's development and implementation across the regions, as well as insights from non-governmental partners with indepth experience of developing, using or evaluating the Code. Nine individuals were interviewed:

- Interview with 2 representatives from Federal Ministry of Education Gender Unit (RQ 1, 3, 5 & 6)
- Interview with EMIS representative with knowledge of Violence Reporting Tool (RQ 4)
- Interview with 2 non-governmental national representatives RQ 1, 3, 4, 5 & 6)

- Interviews with 4 representatives from regional education bureaux (whilst there are 11 education bureaux it was not possible to interview all the regional representatives in the timeframe) (to answer RQ 1, 5 & 6).
- Review of Code of Conduct and Violence Reporting Template and other relevant documents made available to the researchers.

Level 2: School level enactment

The second and main stage involved qualitative interviews and focus groups in six schools. This was to gain a deeper, fuller understanding of the Code in use.

The six schools were selected to address a variety of settings (regions, urban, rural), levels of implementation of the Code of Conduct and levels of support from UNICEF. Schools selected were government primary schools, where the roll-out of the Code of Conduct is more established.

- Three schools were selected in Amhara region (all rural, some more remote than others) and three schools in Addis Ababa city administration (all urban, with two near the city centre and one on the outskirts).
- In each of these regions, three schools were selected, viewed as having implemented the Code of Conduct to a high, medium or low level of effectiveness. This selection was made by the Ministry of Education with UNICEF, who had knowledge of the schools. We made sure that all schools had at least previously received copies and had some awareness of the Code of Conduct and Violence Reporting Template through government roll out processes.

The contexts of the six schools are briefly described in section 4.1. In each school the following were interviewed:

Young people:	 1 focus group discussion (FGD) with girl students leading or highly active in the gender club if there is an active gender club, including the female student member of the SRGBV committee (aim for Grade 8 students as much as possible) (RQs 2-3) 1 FGD with Grade 8 girl students who are not in/not active in the gender club 1 FGD with Grade 8 boy students not active in the gender club (RQs 2-3)
School stakeholders:	 Interview with gender club mentor/Gender Focal Teacher (RQs 2-4) Interview with school director (RQs 2-4) Interview with SRGBV committee leader (only if different/added value to above two interviews) (RQs 2-4)
Community stakeholders	 1-2 local organisation representatives - one could be Parent Teacher and Student Association (PTSA) rep, one an external CBO/NGO working on related issues/with good knowledge of relevant local issues where relevant (RQs 2&5)
Government stakeholders	 1 Woreda Gender Focal Person (Amhara) (RQs 1-6) 1 Sub-city Gender Focal Person (Addis Ababa) (RQs 1-6)
Collection of documentation:	 Completed reports of violence (anonymised), VRT and related documentation, copies of key school policies and records (RQs 3- 4)

In total from the six schools 25 adult key informants were interviewed through semi-structured interviews and 108 students participated in focus groups (72 girls and 36 boys).

3.2 The research process and ethical issues

Conducting research addressing gender inequalities and violence, particularly when involving young people, is fraught with methodological and ethical difficulties (Leach, 2015). The team based at UCL Institute of Education have extensive experience and expertise in conducting research with children on SRGBV. A skilled researcher from Ethiopia was also recruited with experience in research on these issues, and she worked with an assistant. All researchers were female – important when discussing sensitive issues particularly with girls. UNICEF provided logistical support and local contextual knowledge. This full research team fed into the development of the draft research instruments, which were then translated into Amharic.

As is the norm in qualitative research using semi-structured interviews and focus groups, the research instruments were intended to be used flexibly in a way that responded to issues emerging in the field. A research protocol was developed and used with the team to address conduct, potential dilemmas in the field and agreed approaches and conduct, in particular to make the research as ethically sound and rigorous as possible and the team reflected on gender and SRGBV to ensure a common understanding, including a multidimensional conceptualisation that situated SRGBV within norms, identities and inequalities. The team conducted research together in the first school, with a careful staged approach to conducting each research activity involving 1) planning, 2) undertaking interview/FGD, 3) reflecting on both the conduct and content of the interviews/FGDs and 4) implementing learning and making adaptations for the following interviews/FGDs.

Once these stages had been completed satisfactorily, team members undertook interviews alone as needed for subsequent schools. The team undertook regular support and debrief meetings during fieldwork to share and iron out any challenges and provide support for team members, whilst there were also regular check-ins by telephone between UCL and the lead researcher for the same purpose.

The overall timeline was as follows:

Jul-Sept 2017 Research design, planning, ethical review

Oct-Dec 2017 Data collection

Nov-Feb 2018 Transcription

Jan-May 2018 Data analysis and report production

3.3 Approvals, permissions and consent

The study was given formal ethical approved by the UCL Institute of Education through their ethical review process. The study was approved in Ethiopia by UNICEF and the Ministry of Education, who then facilitated access to the regions and helped to identify and brief schools. Schools agreed to participate through the school director. For each of these levels information about the study was shared.

All adult interviewees were given information sheets about the study, and its purpose was also explained verbally. Participants were asked if they were happy to participate and for the interview to be recorded, any questions were answered, and participants' rights to stop the interview or not answer certain questions were clearly explained. For the student focus groups, researchers consulted schools and followed their procedures on informing or asking for consent from parents in advance of

the focus groups. If more students were available and interested that met the criteria for the focus groups they were randomly selected. Often children, under the authority of school or teachers, may automatically consent or not be aware they have a choice in participating. We took great care to create a conducive atmosphere in focus groups and explain the study and what the FGDs would entail in ways that young people would understand. We ensured there was time to discuss questions and that students were genuinely happy to participate. All students signed consent forms.

Power in the research process

We sought to minimise power imbalances and social distance between researchers and participants through appearance, language and so on, aiming to create a friendly and informal atmosphere for all interviews and focus groups. When working with children this is particularly important. Focus groups were felt to be a more comfortable setting than individual interviews, where children could sit with their friends as well as an unfamiliar researcher. Researchers dedicated time for getting to know the students and usually asked the group to teach them a song or dance as an icebreaker. Participatory and visual activities were used as much as possible in the FGDs, which involved drawing maps of the school and community to highlight safe and unsafe places and brainstorms, for example of violence occurring locally. Students were recruited from Grade 8 and were aged 14 and over.

Confidentiality, disclosure and child protection

All interviews and focus groups were held in spaces that could not be overheard, such as a school office or empty classroom after school hours. We tried to make sure we were not interrupted but paused research activities if there were interruptions until confidentiality could be assured again. All participants were assured of anonymity - that is researchers did not share specific information outside the research team. Data was anonymised and care has been taken to protect the identities of the individuals and schools engaged in the research in the report.

In FGDs there was a discussion on ground rules, and when discussing confidentiality students were asked not to share specifics of discussions outside the group to maintain confidentiality. Whilst we did not ask students about their own experiences of violence, there was potential for cases to be disclosed. The research team worked with UNICEF to map support available locally and we ensured there was adequate local support available in case of disclosure issues before finalising research sites. Young people were told about support available at the end of the focus group, and were invited to talk to researchers after the FGD if they had any concerns (where they would be further directed to support services as needed).

Documenting, recording and analysis

Most research activities took place in Amharic, with a few at the national level in English for fluent speakers. All interviews and focus groups were audio recorded and fully transcribed with simultaneous translation back to English. Photographs were taken of visual outputs (e.g. maps drawn in FGDs) and any documentation collected. Data was analysed thematically by researchers at the UCL Institute of Education using NVivo (software for qualitative analysis), guided by the specific research questions. Coding and reflective notes on the data were also used in order to identify emerging issues or themes which had not been previously anticipated.

Limitations

Because of resource constraints it was not possible to collect data in a full cross section of schools or regions - so findings may not be fully representative of the national picture. However, we were able to gain a snapshot of implementation of the Code across regions through the national and regional interviews. We sampled schools purposively to understand the dynamics occurring in schools that were implementing the Code with different levels of activity. However, these selected schools might not reflect a true representation of all schools in the two focus regions. In fact, in Amhara it was quite difficult to identify schools where the Code was being implemented (as many were not at all), and so the schools selected for the study may reflect a more favourable picture than exists across the region. However, the in depth data collection and analysis in the six schools allow the study to contribute to understanding what features of schools and contexts may be helping or hindering the implementation of the Code, and this learning can be applied to schools across Ethiopia.

4. Findings: School-related gender-based violence in the study schools

This section briefly describes the study settings and then goes on to examine how SRGBV is understood, experienced and responded to in the six study schools.

4.1 The study schools

Two of the three primary schools included in the study are located in a low income high density informal settlement area close to the centre of Addis Ababa. Meanwhile the third school in Addis is on the outskirts of the city. Formal employment is low despite their urban locations, and living conditions are poor and cramped, with large families sharing one roomed homes. Whilst sharing many common features with the other two more central schools the suburban area is more mixed economically (although the study school includes the neighbourhood's poorest children as others go to private schools). Since much of the housing is poor quality in the two sites, the government has cleared some areas for demolition and redevelopment, leaving many construction sites. In all three schools there are large numbers of girls who have moved from rural areas for domestic work, and are not under the care of immediate family. Many of these girls have come ostensibly for education whilst being financially supported and accommodated by relatives. Some other schoolchildren are involved in begging or selling goods at night, and working as daily labourers to earn money alongside studying. Video houses where young and older people can access porn films and chew 'chat' can also be found in the area. High levels of HIV, including some HIV positive and orphaned students was mentioned by a community representative at one of the central schools (HIV prevalence is 4 times higher in Addis Ababa than the national average (DHS, 2016)). Child marriage and FGM were not said to be common in the two central schools, but child marriage was perceived to occur in the suburban school due to the area's proximity to Oromia state.

The three schools in Amhara are rural but also face high levels of poverty. Farming is the main source of livelihood. The schools have slightly different settings, with one school near a main road and small urban centre/village whilst the other two are far from the villages. Early marriage is seen to be a key problem affecting schoolgirls. FGM is also practiced. Low access to secondary schools and long journeys – typically of over one hour - to schools are key concerns affecting girls' education.

Girls, boys and other school stakeholders talked about multiple forms of violence affecting both girls and boys in the study schools. In our discussion of the data below we see how these experiences and the way they are responded to are shaped by norms and institutions. Gender inequalities run throughout, underpinning these forms of SRGBV, as one stakeholder explained:

There are numerous types of school related gender-based violence but it is very difficult to pinpoint one special cause for all. But, one could be because of the prevalence of traditions or norms that discriminate against children based on their sex...the society sees male students as good performers and like that, prioritizing males in everything. (Local government representative, Amhara)

4.2 Corporal punishment

Corporal punishment by teachers was reported by students as commonplace across the schools, despite being illegal in Ethiopia (Criminal Code, 2005). Students distinguished between teachers who they saw as supportive if they faced problems and those who were not supportive. Punishments ranged from severe beatings to humiliating treatment, and students were open in their critiques and suggestions for alternative approaches:

Punishment may be necessary but it also needs to be proportionate. For example, when we come to the morning class we may be late sometimes because as females we may be supposed to do different things at home like washing dishes before we get out of home. So, when we get late to school, the punishment we receive is very painful. The rubber stick in particular is very painful and I would say if they do not punish us with that. In the classroom also, even if it is our duty to do homework, it would be proper if the focus is on solving the problem of the student who failed to do his homework. During test time also there is punishment by some teachers which makes us scared. For example, there are teachers who hit you the same number you got wrong in the test. That means if, for instance, you got 10 wrongs you will be hit 10 times. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

Some students also noted some teachers behaving unprofessionally in class, including drinking *areke*¹, chewing *chat*², playing and talking on their phones, running lessons into break time, and punishing children for misdemeanours such as chewing gum or drinking water in class.

Corporal punishment could be seen to both reflect and reinforce gender norms. For example, some said that boys were particularly vulnerable to physical beating 'on the assumption that they can better handle the punishment' (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis), reinforcing ideas about male toughness. Meanwhile some said that girls were more likely to be humiliated and undermined in their treatment, reinforcing their inferior status: 'when students score a low grade or fail to give the right answer when a teacher asks a question, the teacher may say different words against the students "you are lazy and the like." Especially, to demoralize girls.' Poverty can intersect with gender increasing risk of physical mistreatment, which can further exacerbate inequalities, as with girls working as housemaids and living with relatives:

For instance, a student may be staying with her relatives and after school they may give her no time where she can do her homework. As a result, she will show up to class not having done her homework and therefore, may be punished. So, in fear of the punishment, they sometimes prefer to miss the class and spend their time outside (Girls' focus group discussion, Addis)

Whilst young people were clear in their criticisms of corporal punishment and how it affected their wellbeing, it was rarely reported to school authorities. This was because students feared further victimisation from their teacher or they believed little action would be taken against teachers. Students did talk about reporting a case in an Addis school where no action was taken.

Corporal punishment was usually denied by school staff in interviews, or only seen to be violence if seen as severe or resulting in physical injury. It is embedded in the fabric of society, making it particularly difficult to shift despite its ban in schools, and many teachers feel unable to maintain discipline without using threats and punishments.

Corporal punishment does not have prominence in the Code of Conduct, and some government stakeholders explained that this is because it is not considered to fall into 'gender-based' violence. However, accounts above demonstrated how punishments are used to reinforce gender norms and inequalities and there currently does not seem to be a process to support implementation of the ban. Some explained that they would be better able to address corporal punishment if there were clearer

¹ Areke is a traditional alcoholic drink

² Chat is a plant whose leaves are often chewed as a drug. It is a stimulant, causing excitement and euphoria.

guidelines in the Code:

It is better if the code of conduct pay due attention to corporal punishment, teachers beating students for example. If the action of beating students and its legal consequences are clearly outlined in the code, the teachers will get better direction and caution on the action. (School director, Addis)

I mean when the teacher punishes the student he was just thinking that is for the better of the student and is not from the thinking of inflicting violence on him/her. The same with insults and there are some other things that I think shall be included. It will be good if reconsidered [in the Code]. (Boys' focus group discussion, Addis)

4.3 Bullying

Girls and boys also talked about bullying as being an everyday feature of their lives. This took place both inside and outside of schools and was often gender-based. Boys often bullied girls – sometimes to demonstrate their dominant position, and this was often intrinsically linked with sexual harassment, linked with rejection from girls to their advances, or spreading rumours about girls' sexual behavior (which is further discussed below):

Male students also insult female students and they say shameful things against females like 'you think you are beautiful' but not..... (Boys' focus group discussion, Addis)

It is always there. Sometimes we quarrel with students inside classroom, for example, sometimes the boys take our good chair and give the bad chair for us. Then we ask them [the boys] saying this is our chair, they said to us "this chair is not yours. Take care! Who you are? These days you girls are going to beat us!" Saying these things, the boys insult us. (Girls' focus group discussion, Amhara)

Bullying also took place between boys and between girls, although was a little less talked about. We see again how poverty also shapes bullying, with orphans or those with difficult home circumstances particularly targeted. Newcomers, younger children, and children with certain physical features were also at risk. Boys also fought with each other over girls.

As with corporal punishment, this was very rarely reported. Some who did report faced physical abuse from peers. Bullying was widely talked about by students and occasionally by school staff. Bullying and fighting were generally not reported through the Code as it was not seen as gender-based, although staff in one school in Amhara claimed it was the type of violence most often coming to the attention of the SRGBV committee. When teachers knew about bullying behaviour they usually dealt with it directly by punishing perpetrators.

4.4 Sexual harassment and coercive sex and relationships

Girls talked about sexual harassment extensively, ranging from sexual comments and intimidation, to grabbing and coerced or forced sex. It was discussed across all schools but more frequently in the Addis schools. Girls described harassment as an everyday feature of their lives, occurring both within and outside schools. Girls adopted strategies to try to avoid harassment in their communities, in particular by avoiding places considered to be risky because men gathered, such as chat houses, construction sites, garages and car parts shops in Addis. In Amhara girls considered the often long journeys to school, football fields, liquor houses and urban areas as the most risky and risk heightened at cultural ceremonies and holidays, whilst schools were seen to be somewhat protective spaces.

Girls and boys in focus groups spoke of how sexual harassment was caused by an inability of men and boys to control sexual desire, often exacerbated by alcohol or *chat* use. Whilst these are common beliefs but are socially learned features of masculinity, they were not necessarily recognised as such and accepted as 'how men and boys are'. Thus it was not apparent to most people how these concerns could be changed (for example through gender transformative learning approaches). Whilst boys can be socially rewarded for having sexual relationships, girls are expected to stay away and are socially punished for getting involved. There were examples of girls being forced into relationships with boys, keen to impress their friends:

D2. There is this thing, for instance, where male students took the female forcefully and introduce her to their friends as girlfriend. If she refused to go or resist their proposal they will hurt her....
D3. Sometimes they also took the female students to other places and make them spend the whole day with them
D4. They also take condoms in their hands
(Boys' focus group discussion, Addis)

The social stigma around sex created a lack of awareness about how power and lack of consent are the key factors determining violence rather than merely sexual interest. In this way adolescent relationships, kissing, discussion about sex and attractive or revealing dressing were seen to be violence:

D5: Less severe gender based violence include touching body parts and kissing. D2: Foolish practices means, for example, some individuals have the practices of behaving towards gender based violence or sexual harassment. Because, some people always act in a decorative way in their hair style, wearing improper clothes that shows their thigh and the like. We take this as a foolish practice.

D3: They are practicing these to have sexual intercourse. This happens because of people being illiterate otherwise we all know that this sexual related things have no advantage. But, because of lack of knowledge people are practicing sexual harassment. (Boys' focus group discussion, Amhara)

Having interest in sex and pursuing relationships is common in adolescence, and did occur, as one girl explained: 'It is common to have girlfriend and boyfriend in our school, especially on grade seven and eight. At grade eight....sexual intercourse....or kissing is common' (*Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis*). But young people lacked understanding of how to distinguish and understand what constitutes violence. For example it was evident from their responses that they could not distinguish unwanted, coercive or intimidating approaches from those that were more consensual or respectful. This shame and blame linked to girls and sexuality constrained reporting:

What makes reporting difficult? I think it is all about fearing of the hearsay around the school. Though it may be a case of forced rape, the victim might think that people will be talking about her and they may think that as her own fault. So, she may think they will say 'why did she go into this place if she is not into it'. Hence, she will fail to report fearing hearsay. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

It also made it difficult for girls to make non-sexual, platonic friendships with boys in school:

Some of the boys will take some of your relation with other boys differently if you happen to giggle with them and then based on that they might write something that defame you and it will be spread throughout the school and sometimes goes to home where bigger problems will happen as a result of that. So sometimes creating a brotherly-sisterly relation in school can be very difficult. (Girls' focus group discussion, Addis)

Students said that school uniforms helped protect them from sexual harassment linked to dressing, but mentioned that girls who attended extra tutorials at school on the weekend (where uniform is not required) were particularly at risk on the journey to school. There were some pressures for girls to look 'modern' which symbolised increased wealth and status, so this caused dilemmas for girls:

In our community adolescents are exposed to such violence due to economic insufficiency. Children from poor families are more at risk for sexual violence. And on the other hand girls from rich families dress relatively well and boys are easily attracted towards them and these girls are also exposed to violence. (Community representative, Amhara)

Money, gifts or grades were used to persuade girls into sexual relationships, making girls living in extreme poverty particularly vulnerable. Sometimes parents were complicit in silently encouraging these relationships if they meant bringing in much needed family income, as illustrated by these extracts from discussions with girls in schools in Addis and Amhara:

There was one boy who always follows my footsteps in order to rape me by using money for his deception. Although one day he jumped and tried to catch me when I was taking maize from the maize field, I shouted aloud and escaped from him. At that time I told my family, but they said to me "it is up to you; you yourself have interest" and they [parents] insulted me in such way...... If I tell to my family, they say to me "it is your behaviour" and I stay silent about it. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Amhara)

In my neighbourhood there was this girl who had many people staying in her house. That is because they rent their house. And at that time they may touch her improperly or kiss her lips. When she tells her mother about it the mother looks the money she gets out of it and therefore, fail to help the girl. She'd rather keep silent, despite that the girl is subjected to violence and can even get pregnant. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

As well as lack of support from parents, girls also usually did not report these experiences due to fear of retribution from perpetrators. Girls faced dilemmas in how to respond, with some saying that they might manage to avoid retribution if the boy had harassed many girls and might not know who had reported, and a few saying that talking back angrily was necessary so boys knew they were not afraid of them. Occasionally harassment was reported and effectively stopped by school authorities:

There is this student who used to inappropriately touch different body parts of female students. I mean used to squeeze our breast and hit our buttock. He also had a fight with me as a result. We finally reported to our school where he had been given a warning in the presence of our parents. Thereafter he improved and stopped doing such things. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

4.5 Child abuse

More extreme examples of sexual or physical abuse committed by adults, often by those within or close to the family, were also discussed. There was a tendency to discuss the most extreme or shocking

cases repeatedly. Schools seemed to be sympathetic and responsive to these, perhaps because schools themselves were not implicated in the violence and because of their broad disapproval. Taking action sometimes just involved calling the perpetrators in to 'advise' (especially for physical abuse), which may not be effective and could put the child at increased risk, but sometimes cases were investigated and/or reported to the police. There were stories of students being withdrawn from school by the family if the school started asking too many questions.

The girl was raped by her grandfather with whom she used to live. At first, as her grandfather was very old (65-70 years of age) and respected one in the community, it was not easy for her to tell her story. It was only because of her teacher's insistence, who observed the changes in the girl, that she finally able to tell what happened stating that it was her grandfather who did such thing on her. (Community representative, Addis)

Students spoke of occasional incidents of a girl committing suicide following sexual abuse, due to the stigma she faced and the lack of support she was given.

Girls' vulnerability at home was linked to poverty. Many girls and boys worked as domestic workers or labourers and were subject to labour exploitation. Girls working as maids with extended families, and girls whose mothers had migrated to the Middle East in search of work were at increased risk of abuse from fathers, uncles and other male family members. Fear of losing their income or home support was reported by some stakeholders as a barrier to reporting, but there were accounts of teachers providing support especially if it linked to their risk of dropping out from school, for example helping housemaids find another local employer. This explanation from a local government official illustrates how reporting does not always resolve girls' vulnerability to violence:

These times I even come to an agreement with myself that I should not take the case to that extent. For that matter, we had come up with two situations where, after the arrest of their guilty father, we were finally devoid of options as to where to take them next. Because taking them to other relatives may be again exposing them for other violence. There was a case of this girl, for example, where, after we made the guilty father imprisoned, a hotel owner took her to raise and educate her. But what she faced in her new place was also something very challenging....Then she managed to escape and left the place. Then after, we took her to her relatives, but there also her uncle could not leave her alone. He began to continuously harass her where she again made to leave her uncle's place also. (Local government representative, Addis)

These examples highlight the dilemmas faced when social support systems are not in place that can protect and if necessary take on care of children at risk of abuse in the home.

Boys were also mentioned as being at risk from sexual violence, but these cases are less reported as boys face even more stigma as victims of sexual violence. The central sub-city reported that 19 out of 47 reported rapes were of boys, whilst the sub-city on Addis' outskirts reported 2 out of 17 cases targeted boys (this data was not provided for Amhara).

Whilst young people were perceived to be more at risk of sexual abuse outside school (of 15 reported rape cases, 2 were inside the school and 13 inside homes in one sub-city) (*Local government representative, Addis*), there was one high profile case in an Addis school of a teacher who sexually molested nine girls in exchange for grades. The case was reported and dealt with through the Code of Conduct and teacher was sacked (*School director, Addis*). This seems to be the only case of abuse by a teacher that has been effectively addressed through the Code in the six schools.

4.6 Child marriage

Although the legal age of marriage is 18 (Revised Family Code 2000), child marriage was said to be common in Amhara and to occur in the community on the outskirts of Addis, where its proximity to Oromia state meant that girls were often taken for marriage. Girls working as maids were particularly at risk – for these girls marriage was seen as a route to escape servitude or disagreement with their employer, and some girls were abducted for marriage. Child marriage was seen as a way for families to heal conflicts and restore peace with opponents. They were also seen as an important opportunity for poor families to accumulate wealth if marrying a wealthy man, to ensure virginity of daughters would be maintained until marriage, and to make sure daughters were not perceived as the last to marry or thus seen as less interested or desirable.

Instances of child marriage were reported to be reducing, and this is an area where there were high levels of activism by school authorities and girls' clubs and other external authorities:

But early child marriage and socioeconomic issues that I told you previously have been reported to us. Child marriage specially will be reported to other concerned institutions also such women and children affairs office, court, police and finally to health centres like it can be taken to hospitals. (Local government representative, Amhara)

Girls starting from their eighth birthday used to get married. But now such cases are not common. Even some students write and alert us when their parents like their fathers try to get them married. We have managed to stop such marriages. This practice is very rare now. Most families want their children to get education and live a bigger dream. The community is considering early marriage as inappropriate character. They want their children to go to school. (Community representative, Amhara)

Whilst the Code was used to support action on child marriage in most schools, it is not formally covered by the Code, and this was used as a reason for inaction in one school:

Last year, around Easter, there were students who got married without our knowledge. Even if we knew this truth and even if we know the Code of Conduct, we did not know whom we should hold accountable. The parents were the ones who made the girl marry and the code of conduct cannot apply to them and therefore, we could not do anything about it. (School director, Amhara)

Other schools used several different strategies to stop child marriages going ahead, including through the work of the Girls' Club:

If a girl hasn't heard about her own arranged marriage, we will inform her saying "this problem is coming to you." If she is willing to get married, we will convince her [not to marry] first. Then after we convince her, we will go to her home in order to convince her mother and father. Then after we come to school, and if her parents say "ok, we don't marry off her", we made her to continue attending her education. (Girls' focus group discussion, Amhara)

The concerted efforts may be linked to broad efforts to encourage gender parity at school and prevent girls' dropping out, rather than being specifically linked to the introduction of the Code of Conduct. It was also mentioned by some stakeholders in one location that if a girl states that the marriage is her free will she is allowed to continue the union (even if below legal age).

This analysis has emphasized how all forms of SRGBV highlighted in the conceptual diagram on page 6 (figure 1) are reflected in the schools participating in this study. We have also identified how violence is shaped by norms and institutions which affect how different forms are responded to. We shall now move on to look at how the Code of Conduct has been able to address these forms of SRGBV.

5. Introduction and roll-out of the code: the national and regional perspective

5.1 Development of the Code

The development of the code was led by the Ministry of Education (MoE) and UNICEF. The Ethiopian Teachers Association also reported advocating for its development, because of the complaints they had received from teachers and students, as well as reports of violence in the media. Several interviewees mentioned the relationship the code had with pre-existing policies or structures that had sought to address gender inequality or violence, pointing to the way in which the code built on these.

To develop and coordinate the work on the code, the MoE assigned a coordinator and together with UNICEF devised an initial draft. Following this they created a committee, and drew on expertise from a wide range of state and non-state stakeholders (such as teaching organisations and relevant NGO partners in the area) who worked to revise this in multiple rounds using workshops as a method to do this. Stakeholders at national and regional levels gave input, as well as from different sectors – including education, gender, justice and police, as one participant explained:

There was a contribution of many people from different areas. Education bureau, legal representatives of higher institutions, justice department, and federal police were represented. The main idea was to use the input of every sector to identify the gaps in the law and discuss on how to fill it. (National non-governmental representative)

The resulting **Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools** was introduced in 2014 and has been rolled out across Ethiopia. The Code addresses gender-based violence by school staff or students, including light (eg. verbal gender discrimination, or sexually provocative behaviours) and grave forms (e.g. coercive sex for grades or money, attempted rape) and sets out penalties (see Appendix 1 for full Code). For example, a light form of punishment includes an oral or written warning (both to be recorded on a form); a severe form of punishment of a student includes suspension for a specified period, and for a staff member, includes demotion or dismissal. It supplements the administrative disciplinary guidelines in schools, which lacked guidance on areas like sexual harassment. The code specifies that seven-member committees are to be put in place in each school, representing gender clubs, other students (Grade 5 and above), teaching, parents, administration and leadership, to review, investigate and take action on reports of violence in line with the guidelines. The committees are expected to meet twice a month and review reports, which must be submitted in writing according to a template detailing people involved and witnesses, place and description of event and evidence available. The code also sets out that Gender Clubs should be established in every school, and that Committees should raise awareness about the Code of Conduct.

5.2 Debates around the Code of Conduct

During this process interviewees highlighted areas which had led to particular debate between stakeholders. These were:

The *scope* and *content* of the code – particularly around the question of violence that takes place outside of school, and for example issues such as child labour and corporal punishment, as one participant reflected:

You know, we benefitted from the validation workshop, because there are a lot of debates, some of the people request us... the function of code of conduct is limited at school level because it is the mandate of education bureau in the school compound. Some

said how can we manage if the violence occurs out of the school compound? In relation to that why just include child labour; many problems of child labour and may be a violence happen at home level, home based violence (National government representative).

The question of seriousness and types of violence that also constitute legal offences and would require referral beyond any educational processes put in place were also debated. A further area of debate was whether the code should itself be defined around SRGBV or around sexual harassment. Some felt that certain types of violence, such as corporal punishment and bullying/fighting are not gender-based so should not be covered by the Code, whilst internationally agreed definitions include these types of violence as they often have a gender dimension, as discussed in section 2.

Having implemented the code, national and regional level stakeholders again reflected on its strengths and weaknesses. Positive mention was made in terms of its function as a tool for awareness raising around the issue of violence, among a range of different stakeholders. It was praised for being designed to include different levels and structures involved in the issues at hand. There were also examples reported of it having had a positive reception and visible impact – for example in relation to offensive graffiti and how this was dealt with.

However, interviewees also highlighted a selection of areas where they felt the code had gaps or areas to improve on. Firstly, multiple interviewees raised the question of *violence categorisation, and what was or was not included*. It was pointed out that the more psychological dimensions of SRGBV, for example bullying and corporal punishment, were not included:

I agree on the fact that all violence cases are not addressed in the Code of Conduct. For example, besides physical punishment, taking students' material, giving nicknames for students, etc. are not addressed. (National non-governmental representative)

In the Constitution corporal punishment is illegal. And then coming to the Guideline developed for Schools in 2000 it is clearly mentioned that corporal punishment is abolished – that it is not legal in our schools. That is the provision we have. But when it comes to the issues of taking action if corporal punishment has happened, that's the missing link now. That's something that in the future we need to focus on with the MOE to overcome this problem of corporal punishment. We can see that many schools have overcome this problem of corporal punishment. In other schools we still have the problem of corporal punishment, which is a very serious problem in many schools. (National nongovernmental representative)

More generally it was pointed out that overall the Code's emphasis on sanctions following violence meant there was a *lack of attention given both to preventive measures*, and also to the *support and provision for victims*. One participant reflected on this saying:

It has listed types of offenses, measures that should be taken, and how the committee should handle such cases, but has given little attention to preventing it and who should do the prevention task. However, when you look at to the trainings that we offered it has preventive nature. We organized trainings so that such kind of offenses won't happen. I agree that there is a gap in the content of the Code of Conduct when it comes to preventing violence. (National non-governmental representative)

Lastly, multiple interviewees highlighted the need for clearer and tighter links specifically on the relationship between the code of conduct and the justice sector, but also more generally on the

linkages and coordination between different actors and departments of relevance. This also included discussion of the need to ensure that monitoring and evaluation were undertaken in collaboration with, for example, both gender and the EMIS directorate involved.

5.3 Roll-out of the code

5.3.1 National level

At national level, interviewees stressed the importance of regional adoption and coordination of policy including modifications and translation into different languages in the process of roll-out. However, in the case of the Code, it was suggested that only Tigray and Oromia had made substantive changes to the content of the code – in relation to the categories of violence, or adapting and extending for use in colleges. National level interviewees suggested that the distribution of the Code had been supported by UNICEF in all regions, and that this had been followed up with support including training. Training has been delivered to key actors in each region (Gender Focal Persons, Plan and resource mobilization experts and others). Following this the Regional Gender Focal Person was tasked with carrying out regionally tailored training for woredas/sub-cities, who were then to provide training for school level gender focal teachers, who in turn were to work with school communities.

Despite this cascading model in principle, national level actors were aware of limitations and problems that could arise – highlighting the lack of human resources provided for gender work, with gender tacked on to already busy workloads and it being marked, and less well remunerated, as low status. This was clearly explained by one national level participant who reflected on the grading and structuring of roles, and the low status of gender as an area of work within the education sector then impacting on the experience level of who would apply for roles.

It was also pointed out that with a high turnover in roles, the value of training which was received could be lost when people moved, and not replenished. Although aware of some issues, the national level interviewees stressed that they did not have a clear picture of school-level implementation as this responsibility lay primarily at regional level with the Education Bureaux and Gender Focal Persons.

Another issue highlighted was that the Code of Conduct roll-out was focused on public schools. Whilst these are the majority of schools in Ethiopia and it was felt that private schools were more likely to have effective systems of their own to address violence, it was acknowledged that there is a lack of knowledge or monitoring of violence and approaches to addressing it in private schools (*national government representative*). This was also pointed out by interviewees at regional level, who suggested that although they had wanted to engage with private schools, a combination of these schools' focus on teaching (as opposed to extracurricular activities or clubs) as well as limited funding, forced them to focus only on public schools.

5.3.2 Regional level

At regional level, interviewees from Oromia, Amhara, Addis and Dire Dawa reflected on the process of dissemination they had undertaken to roll out the code, which appeared to predominantly focus on distributing copies of the code (including its translation into different languages), and carrying out training. In Oromia, the regional bureau had carried this out at zonal level, which are in turn responsible for carrying this out at woreda level (of which there are 365 in the region). It was suggested that an allocation of 10 copies of the code per school was made. In seeking to assess the comprehensiveness of the implementation a mixed picture emerged – on the one hand it was stressed that the regional office was not the best placed to assess school-level implementation or resistance to it (as they are primarily responsible for the woreda level, the woreda then for the school level). However, they did point to certain issues which had been fed up to them – which also reflected the

insights of national level actors. For example, it was pointed out that too much responsibility was placed with usually low-status and over-stretched Gender Focal Persons, when for example management bodies needed to understand and own such work to make it stronger. For example, one regional level actor explained that based on their experience, and feedback from schools, they felt committee leadership had to be in a stronger position for them to be more impactful:

But the comment they mainly raise on the committee is that, since the girl's club focal person is the one who mostly chair the committee it make the committee to be weak (that is as she has got not much power). So, they recommend by saying it would be good if those persons at leadership level, like the directors, PTSA representatives or so, chair the committee and if she acts as a secretary. The re-structure of the committee is, therefore, the main suggestion forwarded by those who contact us. (Regional Education Bureau representative, Oromia)

However, as we discuss further below, the Gender Focal Teachers at school level play a critical role in schools that are implementing the Code effectively, and it is important to support their leadership in this area, and to ensure they are not marginalised. It was also pointed out that not all schools had established some of the key requirements. For example, around 60% of schools were reported as having established the stipulated committee in Addis region, though all the schools in Dire Dawa had set up committees.

In Amhara, distribution of copies of the code, coupled with training had been the focus for implementation. It was reported that the region had received around 10,600 copies of the code – to distribute among the 9000 primary and 400 secondary schools. However, it appeared that there was a two tier system taking place for implementation with more intensive training having been carried out in 200 priority primary schools with support from UNICEF. These schools have been selected based on UNICEF's knowledge of the woredas with higher levels of inequality. Similarly to Oromia, the Amhara regional participant suggested that issues with senior level understanding and leadership, as opposed to being led solely by gender focal points, would be beneficial, as well as the need for more training, awareness raising and refresher training.

6. Enactment of the Code of Conduct in schools

6.1 Knowledge and awareness of the Code in schools

Data from interviews with school directors, gender focal teachers and SRGBV Committee members and FGDs with students demonstrated that awareness of the Code was fair in most of the schools participating in the research, and indeed one of the key strengths of the Code's implementation has been its effect on raising awareness about SRGBV in schools. In most cases, the Gender Focal Teachers (GFT) cascaded training they had received at the woreda level. In one school, however, the GFT only became aware of the Code following a reported case of violence. Information was then disseminated in schools through a variety of routes, as we discuss further below, with the GFT and school management, including the School Director, playing a key role in sharing information. Among the students interviewed, some had quite detailed knowledge about the Code, particularly those girls and boys who were in gender clubs; some had a general idea that there was a Code but lacked specific knowledge about its content; while some claimed not to have heard about it. Thus, dissemination about the Code within schools appears quite variable, and needs to be planned and supported to reach the full school community. In some of the schools, where the Code has only recently been introduced, interviewees commented that the training needs to be regularly repeated to embed work on SRGBV into school institutional cultures. Suggestions included using model schools as role models, and using creative ways to disseminate the findings of this study, through for example drama.

Research participants reported on a number of strengths of the Code. Several participants praised the **clarity and brevity** of the Code itself:

The code of conduct is the document that highlights all the various SRGBV committed against students in a very brief manner. Therefore, all the school community either an academic or administrative or a student can easily read and understand. Because it explains what is psychological violence, how sexual harassment can be defined and the less severe and the grave violence and like that in a detailed manner. It enables you understand easily. Secondly, as stated by [participant name] earlier, there are some occasions where the guilty can be punished, so it tells the steps on how to go from the school to the surroundings. So whoever is a perpetrator, the code of conduct has stated everything. I could say it is a very important document. (SRGBV committee member, Addis)

Some felt that the awareness generated through training and awareness raising on the Code was improving the school environment:

This year the condition is very much improved in our school as opposed to last year or the year before. There is also regular training, so things have improved this year (Boys' focus group discussion, Addis)

I do appreciate the government for taking the initiative to work emphasizing on genderbased violence happening both on boys and girls. The trainings and awareness creation seminars are really making us alert about the issue. (School director, Amhara)

Some participants felt that the Code was helping to reduce violence through acting as a **deterrent** – perpetrators fearing that they would be held accountable for committing violence:

After the [Code's] implementation no one had ever tried to harass us because they have heard all about the consequences. They are afraid of the school detention and the court orders. (Girl's focus group discussion, Addis)

Others felt that the Code could help to enable students to **speak out** about violence, reducing the shame or stigma associated with reporting. Though praised for its clarity, there were some variations between schools and interviewees in the ways the code was interpreted. For example, while in most schools staff understood SRGBV as affecting both girls and boys, in one school the code was viewed/used more narrowly to address violence against girls.

Those schools with the highest levels of awareness relating to the Code shared two key characteristics. Firstly, they had committed individual staff, in particular the Gender Focal Teachers, with support from school managers. Second, they attempted to integrate the Code into existing school structures, systems and processes, such as the work of gender clubs and parent-teacher associations, as we discuss further below.

6.2 SRGBV Committees

In developing their SRGBV Committees, the schools carefully followed the Code's guidance on organisation, with seven members, including two students (one from Gender Club and one student representative), chairs of the PTSA and for the Teachers' Association (TA), a member of administrative/support staff, gender representative of the TA, and the vice principal. The **breadth of the membership**, representing key constituencies of the broad school community, was heralded as a strength:

One of the strengths could be the ability to include different groups of the school community to take part and participate (Gender Focal Teacher, Addis)

The participation of students as well as adults, and administrative as well as teaching staff, and PTSA, has potential for buy in from across the school community.

However, we found that the work of the Committee, as described by interviewees, varied somewhat from that described in the Code. The title in the Code of 'SRGBV Complaint Investigation and Decisions Recommending Committee' signals that the main purpose is to **investigate reported violence and to make decisions on sanctions**. Cases may be reported to the SRGBV Committee in various ways – through self-reporting to teachers, committee members (whose contact details in some schools are posted for this purpose) or via the information boxes, or through students or teachers reporting concerns about a student. However, in most of the schools interviewees from the SRGBV Committees explained that, although cases come to their attention, rarely is a formal report being made, or a case formally investigated by the Committee. In all the schools, much of the Code itself focuses mainly on responses following violence, and only briefly alludes to preventive work, in practice it appears that SRGBV Committees are paying attention to both. These twin dimensions of the Committees' work in prevention as well as response were explained by a Committee member in one of the Addis schools:

The major role of the committee would be in creating a secure school environment for students free from any kind of violence, threats or harassment and to prevent such things from happening. Secondly if there are some victim students, the committee is supposed to help investigate what happened, make follow ups, and if there are things beyond the capacity of the committee report to the concerned and even go to those areas to follow the case there. (SRGBV committee member, Addis)
There appear to be several **reasons why few cases are being reported to the Committees**. In two of the schools, the Committee has only recently been established, and so is concentrating on awareness raising in order to increase reporting. In schools where the Committee is more established, 'light' forms of violence may be handled through routine practice in schools, without needing Committee input. One Gender Focal Teacher, for example, explained that she encourages teachers to resolve minor incidents of violence between students themselves. Sometimes more 'severe' forms are also resolved in the process of gathering information for the SRGBV Committee report. A Gender Focal Teacher, for example, recounted that a peer or teacher may report a bruise, changes in mood, or absence from school of a student, leading to a home visit:

So we used to go their home through the information we got from their friends. Then we began to investigate the issues based on the initial information we have. If it is beating for instance, we start to check the body, and who was involved and the like. So it is after going through such thorough analyses of the issue then we bring the issue to the committee. If we thought it is too simple, we call up on the family and make them aware about the issue that they should not have to do it that way and might resolve it there without further ado. (Gender Focal Teacher, Addis)

Other complex cases may be referred on to other agencies, such as hospitals or police. It is important that these kinds of severe violence do not bypass the SRGBV Committees.

Few reports of violence by teachers reached the SRGBV Committees, perhaps, as suggested by a community member (*Amhara*), because students are afraid of possible repercussions, or doubtful that their concerns will be taken seriously, or because teachers may be reluctant to adjudicate on their colleagues. One local government official suggested this as a reason to alter the leadership of the SRGBV Committee from the GFT to a woreda/sub-city official (*local government representative, Addis*. However, the advantages of the GFT chairing the Committee include being able to take on the spot action, the wider role and authority schools have on their members than the woreda, and importantly the need to strengthen based decentralisation and decision-making on school/learning matters.

While some of the different courses of action in and out of school are appropriate responses to different types and levels of violence, and not all cases of violence need to reach the SRGBV Committee, it is concerning that this sometimes appears to lead school staff to minimise the violence that is taking place within their schools. If not handled through the committee, written records may not be kept, yet this clearly does not mean that violence is not happening. This was evident in the discrepancies between the accounts of students and teachers, with students' accounts suggesting that violence remains commonplace in their schools (as discussed in section 4 above), but is often not reported through the official channels.

Another reason for lack of reporting may be concerns about **confidentiality**. In most schools, the information boxes set up to encourage violence reporting were rarely used by students. This may be because of lack of clarity about confidentiality. Information boxes tend to be carefully located in relatively private spaces, so that students can report violence without being witnessed by others, thus avoiding gossip and at times enabling them to report violence affecting someone else without revealing their own identity. However, they need to be confident that their reports will not leak out. While some committee members interviewed were clearly aware of the importance of maintaining confidentiality outside the committee, in practice cases of violence were often known about by students interviewed in focus groups. The guidance in the Code indicates that reports to be investigated are confidential but not anonymous – complaints are to be put in writing with names and

details about the violence. It may be valuable to reconsider the requirement of the Code to have this formal report in all cases. Alternatively, students could be encouraged to report in a variety of child friendly ways, leading to a range of responses – these could include preventive work by a teacher with a whole class, for example, addressing bullying without naming or identifying any individuals; or through the teacher discussing an informal report (e.g. given verbally or through the information box) with the child concerned, before helping him/her to decide whether to make the report more formal, with the teacher's help.

We found that when cases were more serious and formally investigated, confidentiality was not always maintained. For example, in one Addis school a case of nine students who were sexually abused by a teacher became very public. Announcements were made and the girls themselves felt shamed and victimised and received no psychosocial support. This also reflects a further important reason for underreporting: the weak support offered to victims. The Code emphasises penalties, but not how young people should be supported. Students spoke about how they could be stigmatised for speaking out about violence:

D1. From the side of the students they may stigmatise the victim of violence. They do not want to be friends with her anymore and as a result she may commit suicide or get in to different unnecessary actions.

D2. She may also be stigmatised by her family and as a result may drop out from school. She may be expelled from her house and may be left all alone where she would be tempted to kill herself or do some other things on her life (Girls' focus group discussion, Addis)

While some spoke of support provided through guidance and counselling centres or the gender clubs at school, and clearly the Gender Focal Teachers play an important role in supporting students, professional **psycho-social support** is lacking.

These issues concerning reports to the SRGBV Committee have a number of implications. Firstly, it is concerning that some staff appear to be interpreting low levels of formal reporting to the Committee as indicating low levels of violence. Secondly, it raises questions about whether there are forms of violence, such as corporal punishment, that are being missed by the Code, and leaving young people unsupported in such cases. Thirdly, it underlines the importance of integrating the Committee's work with the broader approaches to prevent and respond to violence that are taking place in and around the schools, and of working with other stakeholders like Women and Children Affairs office, police, and the Ethiopian Women Lawyers Association.

Once cases are reported to the SRGBV Committees, they are mandated to make recommendations on sanctions. Concerns were expressed by some members about the risks they face in undertaking this work:

They fear that they might be attacked by the perpetrator (Local government representative, Amhara).

Fear of reprisals aimed at committee members is a considerable risk, and some participants were concerned that the Code does not give guidance on how reprisals or threats to committee members would be handled. There is however a section in the Code (section 12) on legitimate protection for members of the school community who need protection, which specifies ensuring safety of staff through securing a signed commitment of restraint from harm by the perpetrator. It would be valuable to review whether this is adequate to protect committee members. Some interviewees were also concerned that the Code does not prescribe sanctions for those who protect perpetrators.

Another way in which the Committee varies from that described in the Code is in the **frequency of meetings**, specified in the Code to be every two weeks. While some schools do appear to be following this guidance, others suggest this is too frequent, and justify a flexible approach. If the role of the Committee is only to adjudicate on cases formally reported, then meetings every fortnight of the full committee may not be warranted or sustainable. Responding quickly to reports of violence may at times require faster action, by those members able to convene at short notice. If the Committee is also working preventively, then it may be valuable to meet, perhaps monthly/termly, to plan their work, including how they can work with other school structures, such as the gender clubs, discipline committees, school management and curriculum, to ensure that all forms of violence are addressed, students supported, and to plan preventive work in classrooms, clubs and flag ceremonies to promote safety, inclusion and equity.

Additionally, there was reported to be an issue relating to the **sanctions for perpetrators** of violence (whether students, teachers or other staff). The Code stipulates suspension for up to 5 years for a student perpetrator, depending on the case, with denial for enrolling in another school. Some respondents critiqued this, highlighting how denial of education would not be effective in addressing violence and could violate rights to education. This may particularly be the case for cases that are more everyday than extreme, such as showing pornographic pictures or initiating sex, even if consensual, where there may be more appropriate sanctions:

What I wish could be included to discipline a student is not to ban a student from coming to school but find other ways like gardening job, cleaning the compound and other kinds of disciplinary actions were to be included. If a student is caught stealing and the punishment was to ban him for a year from school, he/she would become a problem to society and continue the act of stealing but if the student is guided and punished accordingly the student will learn from their mistake and be a productive member of the society. (School director, Amhara)

A further criticism of denying enrolment to another school was the difficulty of enforcing the sanction, since, in practice a student might enrol in a school far from his previous school without having a transcript.

Sanctions in the Code for teachers or other school staff include dismissal for the most serious cases, and this was agreed to be appropriate for those who are in a position of trust and authority. However, the systems in place to enforce this were reported to not be effective. Circulars are sent within the woreda, zone or region, but a teacher could still attain employment outside of that zone, even if the circular reached all the schools in the area.

The Code provides guidance on sanctions for very severe and mild violence, but does not currently provide guidance on sanctions for the range of violence that occurs between these poles. Reviewing the sanctions/punishments could enable more nuanced professional judgements to be made. For example punishments for students could include shorter suspension periods (hours/days) or school detentions. Meanwhile sanctions for teachers using corporal punishment could follow a staged procedure (depending on severity of cases) such as warning for first reported offence, a requirement to attend a training course on alternative forms of discipline for a second offence, and suspension and then sacking and/or legal proceedings for third or serious offences. In judging sanctions for sexual activity between students, an assessment of whether these are consensual should be taken into account, with punishments reflecting the level of coercion. It would also be helpful for sanctions to be check and aligned with legal provisions.

6.3 Teaching on SRGBV and the Code, and the Gender Focal Teacher

In the schools working most effectively with the Code, the Gender Focal Teacher (GFT) plays a key role:

Most of the time the violence reports are addressed to teacher [name of Gender Focal Teacher], since she always encourages students about such gender issues. She used to tell students that if anything happened, 'I want each and every one of you to tell me about it without any fear, and do not try to hide it from me'. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

As well as running the Gender Club, the GFT is often a driving force within the SRGBV Committee. This role is multi-faceted – requiring strong organisational and coordination skills, expertise on gender and violence, as well as personal qualities in establishing trusting relationships with school and students. It is also time consuming, with responsibilities that may be on top of busy teaching loads, as they are given the same teaching load as other teachers. Some felt that the responsibility for training in schools should be shared, with outside professionals supporting the work of the GFT by visiting to share their expertise:

The focal persons are simply teachers and hence, their main job is on the teachinglearning activity. It is only as a volunteer that they work on the club and there is no time deducted from their main teaching hours, because of their work in the clubs. This means that they are working in parallel to their main task without any payment and in doing so; they have shortage of time. So, it is burdensome to regularly report their activity for the different offices. (Local government representative, Addis)

While some GFTs appeared to be well supported, with GFTs in Addis schools having undergone repeated training, others felt the training they had received was insufficient, as in the case of the GFT in one of the Amhara schools which had only very recently started to implement the Code:

The training that I got is not adequate. We took the training only one day; the training was on sanitation, toilet, water development and the third one is about SRGBV. The training was only for one day. The training is not that much. (Gender Focal Teacher, Amhara)

In one of the low implementing schools where the SRGBV Committee was not functional, the Gender Focal Teacher explained that only she and one other member were active, and the school principal complained that there is 'no sense of ownership at every level'. In this case, the school principal was new, with little knowledge of the Code, demonstrating the importance of repeating training and ongoing support for schools to address the effects of staff turnover. This case also illustrates that, for a GFT to effectively drive forward this work, she needs support and commitment from other staff members. Training, ongoing support, and recognition are very important, given the critical role this person has in driving forward the Code in schools. At the same time, successful policy enactment also depends on the commitment of the woreda, whole school management, and the school principal to propel work on SRGBV and enforcement of the Code.

For other teachers in the school, information about the Code was shared by the GFT or the School Principal, or they learned at the same time as their students during flag ceremonies. Some teachers covered topics relating to gender and SRGBV in Civics and Ethical Education or other lessons. The

amount of training and support varied between schools, and teaching materials to support this work across schools would be valuable.

UNICEF is considering its support to the Ministry of Education and Regional Education Bureaux in the development and delivery of a life skills manual for primary schools, and this could be a very valuable resource:

With primary schools we have learned that there are some haphazard life skill materials, and in our current support to the MoE and REBs we have included developing this in a comprehensive way for upper primary school (ages 10 to 14/15) which is inclusive of psychosocial and other thematic areas. We want to focus on personal, inter-personal, cognitive, psychosocial skills that are covered in thematic areas of gender-based violence including child marriage, menstrual hygiene management, health education, sexual and reproductive health and adolescent nutrition. (National non-governmental representative)

Young people said that training involving the school as well as community would be important to develop dialogue, raise awareness and develop strategies to address underlying causes of SRGBV, in particular sexual harassment and coercive relationships. In this sense it will be important for teaching materials to support deeper discussion about gender norms, power and consent.

6.4 Student participation and gender clubs

A strength of the school-based work on SRGBV in Ethiopia is the high level of student engagement. There are well-established structures in many schools for student participation, with Student Parliaments, 1 to 5, school mini-media and a range of clubs. Student Parliaments, for example, involve students assigned roles such as 'scout' or 'police' ruling on 'simple' cases like theft or breakage of student property. While there is some potential for overlap or confusion between the responsibilities of different groups, in general the range of spaces for students to contribute to work in this area was positive. Schools actively encouraged gender balance in roles and responsibilities of students:

Girls are represented well in the parliament. During election, half of the seats are allocated for girls and the other half for boys. Sometimes there is a case where more girls are represented in the students' parliament than boys. The same is when class monitors are elected. Both girls and boys are represented equally. The same with "one to five" arrangement, girls are well represented here as well. For your information, in our school, girls perform better academically than boys. So girls' representation helps them to handle sexual cases well. (School director, Addis)

Gender clubs were well established in most of the schools. In most schools, membership was open to girls and boys, though one school restricted membership to girls only. Another, with sensitivity to the need for single sex spaces for open discussion on gender, sex and violence, had a mixed club along with separate sessions for girls only:

As a focal person for the club I lead the activities implemented by the club. I categorized the club in to girls club and gender club. In the gender club boys can also participate. But in girls club only girls are members. I have done this because there might be issues girls are comfortable to share with girls only. The agendas and number of members for both clubs are different. But both clubs commonly work on prevention of gender based violence *like early marriage, harmful traditional practices, rape and abduction. (Gender Focal Teacher, Amhara)*

In some schools, the numbers of students able to be club members were limited and controlled in order to facilitate the management of the club. In other schools, membership was voluntary, with very large numbers of students.

The gender clubs have a key role in building awareness about the Code, and complementing the work of the SRGBV Committee. With the Gender Focal Teacher leading both structures, and with a female student also a member of both, there is much scope for supporting each other's work. One girl in the gender club who is also a committee member in a school in Amhara, explained that the committee meets monthly, while in most schools the gender club meets every week:

We also meet every week on Sundays for 2 hours. We are solving so many problems. For example, whenever we hear about early marriage to be held in the community we report to the gender club focal teacher and the girl would be saved. We have also built a room with partitions that would help girls in the school to come wash and change their clothes when they are on their menstruation. We are not scared now. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Amhara)

Sometimes members are also actively encouraging reporting. Some of the clubs were involved in fundraising for this work, with for example the gender club in one school raising funds through a tombola to build a gender library, where students could meet in a safe space, borrow books, and where the information box was housed.

In the gender library, there are books that talk about issues related to violence and how to protect violence, as well as there are also inspirational books that talk about the life of some successful women. (Focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis)

At this school, the gender club raised funds to provide material support for students, including sanitary pads, soap and books; they recycle uniform and school equipment to supply students in need, and they organise tutorial classes for girls who need to be supported. A number of interviewees were concerned that awareness raising work is costly, and that more funds need to be prioritised for supporting the work of gender clubs and for SRGBV more broadly, including for example, costs of emergency treatment, and refreshments during training sessions.

6.5 Schools working on SRGBV with community members and services

While the Code specifies that it applies to violence in the school setting, many of the research participants in schools described how they dealt with incidents taking place outside school, as discussed in section 2.1. In one of the urban schools, for example, a community member explained that men coming to work on construction sites posed a risk to female students of gender-based violence on the way to school: 'At some point we also intervened and confronted those construction workers about the issue and warned them if they happen to do it again they will be liable' (community representative, Addis). A student in the gender club suggested targeting the men who 'sit there in gambling houses and bully girls, to concentrate on their jobs and warn them there will be consequences for doing such bullying' (focus group discussion, girls' club members, Addis). In the city, participants spoke about supporting young people on issues like street safety or labour exploitation:

Moreover, there are evening school students in our school - who take class after 5:30pm - who are mainly maids from the surrounding community and therefore, we do our best

to raise awareness among these groups of the community on gender based violence through different trainings. We have given them detailed training, for example, on their rights, on what to do and not to do, for example, on clothes not to wash - under wears, for instance, how to become systematic in handling cases of violence and even how to save their life for that matter (School director, Addis)

In more rural Amhara and to a lesser extent in Addis, participants spoke often of addressing harmful practices, in particular child marriage, including through work in the gender clubs:

In all cases, we have been orienting them about what is early marriage; how to prevent early marriage. If they find out that there is an arranged marriage by the parents, members should come and tell us secretly and we intervene to stop the early marriage. We have been doing awareness creation with them. (Gender Focal Teacher, Addis)

Incidents of violence taking place in homes or communities clearly have an impact on students' wellbeing in schools, and it was impressive how school staff and sometimes students were willing to intervene at community level to support vulnerable students – though it is important to recognise the risks this may incur to their own safety.

In complex cases, the SRGBV Committee would refer a case to other agencies, including police stations and hospitals. Often they began by reporting such cases to the Gender focal points in the Woreda Education Offices, or sometimes the Office of Women and Children's Affairs, who then follow up with other agencies. Views about the Police varied, with some interviewees finding them helpful:

I have also experienced a case where a man tried to coax me with a candy. But when I refused to accept his offer he grabbed my arm, then I shouted and a police officer came to help. I told the policeman about it and he made me calm. (Girls' focus group discussion, Addis)

Others were concerned that cases were too often dropped, that justice was obstructed for example through bribery, and that there was not enough community policing. Some suggested that the police trainings conducted in schools on road safety could be extended to address GBV. Interviewees were also critical of the support provided by hospitals, where students and their families were unable to pay the required fees. It was critiqued by local and national stakeholders that cases could not be prosecuted without a high bar for evidence such as medical certificates and witness reports, and DNA testing was not available in Ethiopia. However, virginity testing was mentioned as taking place as evidence for rape cases, which is not an accurate measure of sexual activity, cannot prove rape and can cause harm to victims (Olson and García-Moreno, 2017). The case of a teacher sexually abusing nine girls in one Addis school was successfully reported by the school to police but the perpetrator was released on bail and was reported to be threatening the victims and those SRGBV committee members who took action against him. Such challenges clearly have an impact on the successful implementation of the Code of Conduct in schools.

There are school committees that have a role in working with communities on issues relating to school safety and violence, and this may have potential for some confusion, but also has good potential for strengthening the collaborations with services. For example, one school principal (*Amhara*) spoke of a School Disciplinary Committee and a School Consulting Committee, involving police, school managers, teachers and the PTSA Chair, which is responsible '*To make the school and the outside environment safe for students and children*'. Reviewing the roles and responsibilities of the various committees will be valuable to ensure a coordinated response without duplication.

One participant suggested that the SRGBV committee composition should be expanded to include community members:

In addition to what is mentioned in the code, we also include the kebele administrator, the kebele police and the chairman of the kebele as external members of the committee. I think it would improve the implementation of the code if these bodies are originally included as members of the SRGBV committee. (Gender Focal Teacher, Amhara)

Others felt that the Code itself should be extended to include community violence:

I see the code as an excellent document of its kind. I recommend that if the Code is introduced for the community as a whole, I think it will be implemented with higher scope of practice. (Gender Focal Teacher, Amhara)

Interviewees also spoke about the value of engaging communities in preventive work as well as support for victims: 'For instance, for those who have suffered physical injuries, medical support must be provided. If economic problems have contributed to the problem, working to solve their economic problems etc.' (Community representative, Addis).

Recognising that the causes of violence are often multi-faceted, they referred to the importance of addressing the economic constraints that can create the conditions for violence; or for working with men on awareness building. Another school used a school mapping technique, to help plan how to ensure safety for students on the journey to school:

This means their map traces from which distance does the student travel to school and the map also identifies which are safe ways and which are not safe. For example if there is a church in the map and the church strongly assists in fighting GBV, the area of the church will be painted green or safe mark. In the meantime, if the church has a forest area or the church doesn't assist, it will be marked red or indicate the area needs intervention. (Local government representative, Amhara)

Key collaborators on SRGBV in the community mentioned by interviewees were church leaders and *edir*³.

Communal meetings like edir and parent-teacher meetings can be used as a platform to create awareness. Publicizing it over media like TV and Radio is also important. At the schools, things are getting better. Students are aware of sexual violence related issues. Teaching students is also teaching the society. (School director, Addis)

However, this was not necessarily the case and in some communities there seemed to be no community awareness work taking place, or awareness raising was superficial and information-focused rather than involving dialogue on addressing norms, risks and problem solving. Young people recommended more of this in particular to address community sexual harassment and coercion.

Participants also spoke of the value of specialist community based organisations working on gender and violence, but although there were some humanitarian organisations providing support for basic

³ Edirs are traditional informal organisations providing assistance for local community

needs, there was a lack of specialist support in these school communities from NGOs on gender based violence. Often school students themselves played a role in awareness building in communities:

Our drama club plays a vital role in creating awareness to the community by performing school plays and presenting poems by working with teachers. This has direct impact since parents are presented with effects of early marriage and gender abuses.... The play will be directed by our teachers and most of the participants are female students; they will perform the play as boys and girls since most boys don't like to participate. (School director, Amhara)

7. Monitoring the Code and informing policy

This section looks at if and how the Code of Conduct is monitored. In particular it addresses how the Violence Reporting Template and data collected through it is understood and used. It looks at the processes for feeding back data or learning from the Code of Conduct to inform decision making at different levels.

7.1 Development and roll-out of the Violence Reporting Template

The Violence Reporting Template (VRT) was introduced alongside the Code of Conduct in 2014 as a system to understand what kind of violence is happening in schools in Ethiopia and how it is being addressed. The template is designed to collect data from schools on the number of incidents of different forms of SRGBV, perpetrators, details of actions taken and survivor wellbeing (see sample in Appendix 2). The VRT was drafted by the MOE Gender Unit and UNICEF and shared with Regional Education Bureaux in 2014 with a letter containing instructions on how to complete. This was rolled out in regions through distribution of the template and letter to zones/subcities/woredas and then on to schools. One region reported that they adapted the template, broadening its scope to incorporate information they felt was needed (*Regional Education Bureau representative, Oromia*)

In all of the six schools at least one participant (usually the director or Gender Focal Teacher) had some level of familiarity with the VRT and said it had been introduced to them between 2015 and 2017. In some schools Gender Focal Teachers or Girls' Clubs had attended a briefing or training by the sub-city or woreda, whilst others had just been given or sent the documents and asked to complete.

However, there seemed to be inconsistency in understanding reporting processes within each school and between schools. The VRT is a tool that compiles data by counting numbers of cases of different types in a school over a period of time. In this sense it is really a 'second level' tool and requires a first level tool as a data source where information about individual cases are recorded. However, there was no official format for this. Most schools were using their own versions of these, many of which they had been using before the VRT, which helped schools ensure they had details of each case reported through the Code. In some schools there was confusion between this report and the VRT, and it appeared that some schools submitted these first level forms to woredas rather than the VRT. Some schools also confused the VRT with other reporting requirements on girls' clubs, harmful traditional practices and early marriage.

There was also variability in regularity of reporting, with many schools only sending in completed VRTs when there were cases to report. Returns of VRTs were also variable, with woreda and sub city officials reports varying from 8 to 100% of schools, whilst one regional education bureau stated that one-third of woredas sent data.

Some respondents felt that the VRT was straightforward to use, feeling it linked well with the Code of Conduct, whilst others identified challenges. These included that the forms of violence included are not consistent with those covered by the Code, including not being split into the same categories of light and severe; that there were additional violent acts on the VRT not addressed by the Code, such as corporal punishment, domestic violence, forced and child marriage, other GBV and non-gender-based violence; and that neither violence against school staff nor student bullying/fighting were specifically included in the VRT. The template was also often only partially completed by schools, with for example number of cases of a certain type of violence recorded, but not subsequent questions about victims, perpetrators or outcomes. Local government representatives stated that the VRT would

be better completed with increased support from woredas, which were providing support but with limited means.

The problems of VRT completion may also be because the purpose of the data collected in the VRT is not easily understood by schools. Their priority has understandably been on trying to address cases, and often they saw reporting to the woreda as a way of seeking support to address individual cases rather than as a standard reporting/evidence requirement. For example, one school had only been reporting unsolved cases that were beyond their capacity *'because no need to report once the problem is solved'*. The woredas often did play a role in helping to solve difficult cases.

Participants were sceptical about the quality and hence usefulness of the data collected. Underreporting was widely acknowledged:

Among the 55 woredas who sent back the data, 44 of them have reported the presence of violence in their woreda whereas the rest 11 woredas sent us a blank paper. It was not the absence of violence in these 11 woredas that made them sent blank paper, rather was a problem of compiling the data properly. Even with regard to the 44 woredas who sent us reports of violence, the extent to which they reported the level of violence in their woreda does not match the reality. Through time it has become clear that the intensity is beyond the level they actually reported. When the reporting started at first, the report we used to receive was very low. But, with time it is beginning to show the real intensity and level. (Regional Education Bureau representative, Amhara)

As discussed earlier, underreporting happens for a number of reasons. Formal reports received by the SRGBV committee are a fraction of violence occurring, with some forms of violence more likely to be under-reported than others. This can make the consolidated level data extremely difficult to interpret:

There are two contradicting scenarios. The record somehow shows an increased number of rapes. But when we ask for the real reason behind that, the number has increased just because we were not recording it in the past. But, as we can see from the figure, the number shows very large number of cases. (Regional Education Bureau representative, Amhara)

7.2 Interpreting and using data from the VRT

These challenges understandably limit the extent that data collected through the VRT system can be used at different levels to inform planning and policy. Although our evidence shows that the data is not an accurate representation of violence, many stakeholders still use the data to assess the prevalence of SRGBV in schools. However, with much underreporting, caution is needed in interpreting this data. For example, increased cases reported are likely to be more reflective of increased openness and engagement in tackling violence rather than an increase in violence occurring.

Some local government Gender Focal Persons recognised that high levels of school reporting signalled that these schools were implementing the Code well: *'Those who send reports every month can be ranked as high, not just in terms of reporting but also in other activities in general. They have the information, work in coordination with the school community at various levels and hence, I will give high rank for the school' (Local government representative, Addis).* Another agreed that there was no system for rewarding schools that implemented the Code and reported violence, but thought it was a good idea and ought to be done.

There were a variety of responses in how local government used the data, with many saying that they used the data for decision making. These included looking at the previous year's data when making annual plans, for example planning training events addressing violence that was highly reported, and using to advocate for funds.

7.3 Additional monitoring of the Code of Conduct

Although some schools and local government officials used this data alone to make decisions on strategies to address violence, it seems that many supplemented violence data captured through the VRT with other forms of monitoring linked to SRGBV and used a more holistic analysis to inform decisions. One PTA chairperson discussed how informal observations in school helped with this:

It is through observation and making an assessment as well as in-depth study on it besides the information we gathered from students. We observe their seating arrangements, the way they hang out, with whom they hang out, in the classroom we also check whether they are from the same section and even further to that when someone asks to be assigned in a class with someone, we curiously used to study such claims by saying by what bases and so on....so we do not only depend on the information we collected from the students and I am telling you what we actually do. (Community representative, Addis)

Meanwhile many Gender Focal Persons at woreda or sub city level undertook school visits and had more general conversations about what violence had come to their attention, how they had responded and prevention strategies, in addition to using reports and monitoring in other related areas, such as girls clubs:

Other than the report we receive from the schools, there is a checklist where we supervise the activities of the clubs as part of our oversight, and also give them feedback. The checklist normally includes the activities accomplished in the given month. Apart from that, there might be discussions the clubs hold during the month, meetings, etc on how to prevent gender based violence and how to handle cases of gender based violence. So, they shall include their activities in their report and we do the checking accordingly. Yes, it is a national system and comes to us from the sub-city. But we may contextualize it so that it suits our context. (Local government representative, Addis)

Regional Education Bureaux receive information collected through the VRT in an even more condensed form (with each layer of local government compiling totals). Whilst one regional office admitted just filing the report, others discussed using different methods to monitor SRGBV and the Code of Conduct. One mentioned quarterly visits to local government using a questionnaire which identified progress in implementing the Code of Conduct, such as how well-established the SRGBV committees were (*Regional Education Bureau representative, Addis*) and another explained looking further at the roots of violence:

It is not just collecting violence reports. Rather, it is also about doing analyses on why violence is committed. We shall call persons from different sectors and discuss the reasons for violence being committed, how we can prevent and solve the problem and so on. That is why the Ending Child Marriage (ECM) strategy has been developed. (Regional Education Bureau representative, Oromia)

Whilst it seems that some regions make quite an effort in monitoring and evaluating, it is not clear what evidence or processes they are using to make planning decisions.

Data collected through the VRT is only consolidated up to REB level and not passed up to the national level. The MOE Gender Directorate explained a 'gender report is what we actually receive from regions and in the report there is nothing that details the number of cases happened or other details. Rather, it generally states the things they have done with regard to a given violence'. (*National government representative*). Some participants discussed the national girls' education forum as holding a central monitoring function on efforts to address SRGBV across the country, where relevant research is shared and evaluation and planning cycles to organise and prioritise work:

On the other hand we have a forum.... research studies are conducted... some discussions are also raised so that through that process, there is opportunity to address the issue of school related gender based violence. Each year, we have a planning meeting with gender focal person working at regional bureau, TVET as well as higher education, a mid-term review and a final review so that one of the areas of planning and evaluation is school related gender based violence. In black and white, school related gender based violence is one of the critical areas that need special attention in our strategy. (National government representative)

However, it is not clear what evidence the forum is able to draw on to help in planning work.

7.4 Violence data and EMIS

In 2017 some data collected through the VRT was incorporated into the national education management information system (EMIS). The Annual School Census (ASC) now requests some of the data collected through the VRT, in particular number of cases of violence against girls and boys, by type, and number of boys and girls dropping out as a result of the violence. It does not include data on perpetrators or actions taken as does the VRT as some of this data is not in numerical form. However, it is too early to get a full picture of how this is being implemented so far. A national representative explained that data was to be transferred from the VRT to ASC at school level, checked and compiled at each higher level and entered into a database at regional level. However, there was some confusion: at the same time one representative at woreda level claimed to have the software, and many participants at school, woreda/sub city and regional level believed there to be no violence data collected in EMIS.

The Annual School Census is completed in December – its main aim is to collect school data on enrolment and so on for the school year starting in September. However, a few respondents explained that it did not capture most cases of early marriage, which mostly happen at around Easter time. This suggests that the data captured is partial, only relating to violence reported in late September to early December, hence it is not surprising that many schools did not report violence. It was suggested that the most cost effective way to address this would be for schools to add violence data from the previous school year.

The violence data collected through EMIS has not yet been analysed at national level and has not been included in the 'annual abstract', where education data is published and shared with decision makers. EMIS explained that analysis would be possible if the Gender Directorate would provide expertise to analyse this data. The EMIS representative also explained that they would not accept partial data – their minimum is for 85% school coverage for a region to collect that data, and it is currently 99.6%. However, as has been discussed, many schools that completed the ASC did not complete the questions on violence, hence the rate for completion of violence questions will be much lower. Since the data is summed as total cases in a school/woreda/region and missing data not accounted for, this reduces

any meaning from the data, as figures are likely to reflect completion rates more than violence occurring.

Hence there seems to be a vicious circle, where problems in recording the data contribute to poor data quality, and its limited usefulness thus further undermines efforts to implement the data collection processes. EMIS were very open to including further variables on violence if needed. However, there may be a need for a more fundamental review on what data would be most useful, meaningful and possible to collect with accuracy.

Despite the VRT having potential to encourage schools to address SRGBV, at present the data collected plays a limited role in informing policy and practice. Thinking about a multidimensional framing of violence, as discussed in section 2.1, may help, for example assessing norms and inequalities that underpin violence. The VRT focuses on counting acts of violence, and it may be that some of the supplementary unofficial monitoring processes provide better insights into the contexts and causes of violence and the role of institutions in challenging violence. It would be helpful to consider developing guidelines for more holistic monitoring and evaluation involving collecting some basic data on these other dimensions (for example, what prevention and response efforts are in place), drawing on best practice from those that are doing this informally.

8. Conclusion and Recommendations

The report concludes by returning to the five research questions set out for this study, and includes recommendations for Ethiopia and beyond.

1. What is the level of enactment of the SRGBV Code of Conduct in Ethiopia? In particular, which regions have adapted, disseminated and rolled out the Code, and what is the coverage across the regions?

Roll-out of the code has begun in all regions of the country, including modification and translation in some cases to ensure its relevance and applicability. The main modes of this involved the distribution of printed copies of the code itself, and the delivery of training that should be cascaded down from regional to school level via the relevant actors at zone, woreda or sub-city level. However, the consistency of this was not uniform, with distribution and levels of training variable. At woreda and sub-city level, staff turnover and time pressures could mean that those in key posts had not received the training needed to support the effective enactment of the code.

2. How is SRGBV understood, experienced and shaped in six schools in Amhara and Addis Ababa regions? How does this link to the Code of Conduct?

SRGBV is commonplace in all the schools in the research and takes many forms. Schools are also addressing forms of violence experienced by students outside school, such as sexual or extreme physical abuse at home or child marriage. Others, such as sexual or physical violence in the school are sometimes reported and addressed using the Code. However, the data showed that corporal punishment and bullying are frequently related to gender, and girls and boys feel that their concerns about these forms of violence are not addressed. Corporal punishment by teachers is common and rarely reported as students do not think their concerns will be taken seriously, or are afraid of repercussions. Sexual harassment and coercive sex is commonly experienced and rarely reported, underpinned by gender norms, shame and stigma about sex and by a lack of understanding of the role of power and consent in determining violence. Most SRGBV is thus not reported for a number of reasons, and for the Code to become more effective in this area there needs to be work that goes beyond raising awareness about forms and consequences of SRGBV to addressing the roots of the problem, for example addressing gender norms, and what makes a respectful relationship.

3. How is the Code of Conduct being used in these schools? Is it being used as was intended? If not, why not? How does the Code relate to other school policies, protocols and initiatives?

The Code of Conduct is familiar to most of the school staff interviewed, including Gender Focal Teachers, school principals and SRGBV Committee members, although depth of understanding was variable. Among students, knowledge was variable though some students, particularly in gender clubs or SRGBV Committee members, had good levels of knowledge. All the schools had set up structures, like the SRGBV Committee, and the Gender Focal Teachers had undergone some training, though the amount of training varied, influencing their capacity to cascade training in schools. Few cases of violence are being reported to SRGBV Committees, which currently seem often to be more effective for awareness raising about SRGBV than for following up cases. Where SRGBV committees are more established, the Committee is being used for dealing with serious cases and particularly those located outside the school, such as child marriage and abuse in the home. However, in these six schools few cases of violence by teachers (both sexual violence, and corporal punishment) reached the Committees, nor cases of more everyday sexual harassment, bullying and violence by students. While some of these forms of everyday violence may be addressed through parallel structures and protocol,

such as the school's disciplinary system, it is important to streamline systems in school so that all forms of violence are addressed. In addition, work needs to focus on how to address norms and stigma that underlie lack of action on some forms of violence. When cases are followed up concerns were sometimes raised concerning lack of confidentiality, protection, psychosocial and practical support for victims, who sometimes risked being shamed and further victimised on reporting cases. SRGBV committee members could also be at risk of reprisals from perpetrators.

There are examples of some excellent work by Gender Focal Teachers, particularly where these teachers are supported by focal persons at woreda/sub-city level and by school directors. There are good linkages with gender clubs. Careful coordination between different school policies and initiatives is also needed to ensure complementarity. Awareness raising work with students and teachers within the school would benefit from support materials and lessons that address deeper underlying roots of SRGBV will be important to develop further.

In some cases, schools take supportive action against some forms of violence taking place in the community, sometimes with support from kebele and woreda level officials. However, in the communities where the research took place there are few collaborations in place with community organisations like *edirs*, religious organizations, women and youth associations and NGOs to develop preventive approaches to violence in the wider community, and ensure broad support for stopping SRGBV in schools. This is severely limiting the effectiveness of the Code of Conduct in SRGBV prevention, since community norms and practices underpin and cannot be separated from school practices. There are concerns about how police, justice and health services address SRGBV and this report highlights the importance of greater collaboration to build a strong holistic response.

4. How is the VRT understood and used, and how does it link to the Code of Conduct? How else is the Code of Conduct monitored, and how does learning feed into policy and practice?

The Violence Reporting Template was rolled out alongside the Code of Conduct, aiming to understand what type of violence is occurring in schools and how it is being addressed. There is some familiarity in the schools, and the reporting requirement is helping schools to take some action on SRGBV, but the VRT is inconsistently understood and used, contributing to inaccurate data. Under reporting of violence by students to schools and by schools to woredas also contribute to high levels of data inaccuracy, and there are no simple solutions to this as the reasons are multi-faceted. Data captured through the VRT appears to have very limited use in feeding into on policy and practice, ostensibly because it is difficult to interpret the data, but there are also risks where data is used for decision making when it is inaccurate. A monitoring tool that places less emphasis on counting cases of violence and more on monitoring efforts and successes in addressing violence could provide a more useful and accurate basis for monitoring and evaluating the Code's implementation.

5. How can the Code of Conduct and its implementation be improved?

Based on these findings, there are a number of areas where the Code of Conduct could be improved to enhance its implementation and achieve its aims of curbing SRGBV.

Structures

To help address some of the challenges around different types of cases not being addressed though the Code or being addressed in sub-optimal ways, a two-level structure and process could be considered.

The first level could deal with the more 'everyday' forms of violence that currently do not appear to be reported or addressed through the Code of Conduct in practice, such as mild forms of bullying,

sexual harassment or discrimination by students or peers. Often teachers will deal with these in less formal ways, thus bypassing the Code. Students and teachers could be encouraged to feedback to the Gender Focal Teachers, on the incidents, how they have managed them and any further help they would value. The Gender Focal Person could then keep a brief record of these incidences and responses for monitoring purposes (without a requirement for a formal report by the victim). In addition, these incidents could be discussed at regular SRGBV Committee meetings (perhaps monthly), where the role of the Committee would be to consider how best to prevent these forms of violence, for example how they could work with other schools structures, such as the gender clubs, discipline committees, school management and curriculum, to ensure that all forms of violence are addressed, students supported, and to plan preventive work in classrooms, clubs and flag ceremonies to promote safety, inclusion and equity. Reviewing the roles and responsibilities of the various committees that take place within schools will be valuable to ensure a coordinated response without duplication.

The second layer of work for the committee would be more formal, dealing with more serious cases such as sexual assault, violence by teachers including sexual harassment and corporal punishment and forms of child abuse, including rape, inside or outside the school. The committee would focus on addressing individual cases including liaison with services and organisations working together to investigate cases, hold perpetrators accountable, support victims and consider broad prevention strategies to reduce risk of violence. For these cases, committee members would be expanded to include the woreda GFP and other relevant officials outside the school community could be invited to contribute. Where cases of violence involve school staff it is particularly important to include representatives from outside the school. For these cases formal reports would be made. This committee could meet termly and whenever a case is reported requiring attention.

Scope and content of Code

The scope of the Code could be expanded to include bullying, corporal punishment and child marriage, describing their forms and ensuring alignment with other policy or legal documents (and all forms of violence in the Code can be checked for alignment in this way). It could include forms of violence that affect schoolchildren outside of school. Including forms of violence where it may not be clear how or if they are gender-based, will help to ensure that these cases are not ignored.

The Code provides guidance on sanctions for very severe and mild violence, but does not currently provide guidance on sanctions for the range of violence that occurs between these poles. Reviewing the sanctions/punishments could enable more nuanced professional judgements to be made. For example punishments for students could include school detentions, whilst sanctions for teachers using corporal punishment could include warnings and requirement to attend training. A staged process would be helpful to set out in milder cases, encouraging warning and education/support before mild and then severe punishments. In judging sanctions for sexual activity between students, an assessment of whether these are consensual should be taken into account, with punishments reflecting the level of coercion.

Training, support and resources

Since structures are broadly in place to support the work of the Code of Conduct, more emphasis on supporting the effectiveness of those structures in addressing SRGBV would be helpful. Developing and providing some high quality training guides aimed at or adaptable for different groups (e.g. teachers, students, school leadership, communities) would help to build a deeper understanding of the causes of SRGBV and what can be done to address them, leading to effective action planning to

create safer schools and communities. In particular, understanding how harmful gender norms, poverty and inequalities, and shame and stigma about sex underpin SRGBV, and how to address these barriers and work towards more equal and respectful relationships will be critical in effective implementation of the Code of Conduct. This would also include discussions about alternative respectful forms of discipline for work with teachers. Materials can guide action planning in schools and communities. A life skills manual for primary schools is being developed by UNICEF, and this could be a very valuable resource with inclusion of SRGBV. Content could be reviewed to assess to what extent issues identified here are addressed and consider how best to address gaps. There may also be other organisations with expertise in these areas that could support this work.

Ongoing training and support is needed to support the valuable work of Gender Focal Teachers. Training or briefing also needs to be aimed at school leaders to enable their full understanding, support and leadership for the important work being driven by GFTs in schools.

Ongoing support from woreda GFPs will be important for supporting schools to embed this work into structures, processes and cultures of schools. Some possible initiatives to support this include using model schools as role models, and using creative ways to disseminate the findings of this study at local level, through for example drama.

Accountability and services

Since there are many services and organisations involved in addressing violence the Code needs to clarify links, roles and responsibilities of the school and other authorities in different cases of violence. Many cases that are reported through the Code of Conduct are not resolved successfully due to challenges with provisions of services outside the school, such as police and health services. There is thus a need for work with these services to ensure they are fit for purpose. Possible ideas include bringing in gender-friendly/GBV desks at police stations and/or expanding one-stop centres, work to ensure DNA testing is available to gather evidence for sexual assault cases and consider how evidence requirements for rape could be made more realistic or in line with international best practice. Free provision of services for victims is important.

The Code also needs to better address support and provision for victims who may face trauma, stigma and discrimination. Consideration of optimal and realistic approaches is needed. Students should have access to professional psychological counselling support – as well as sexual health services if relevant – and these are imperative for the most serious cases. It may be more practical for a member of staff, such as the Gender Focal Teacher to be trained and supported to provide psychosocial support within the school for mild cases, and for specially trained health extension workers to provide support in more remote rural areas where there are no accessible professional services such as in One Stop Centres.

The Code of Conduct implementation would also be enhanced by having social support in place, for example to care for vulnerable children at risk of violence and with no other means of safe support.

The Code should address more fully protection of victims and the SRGBV committee members after reporting, and sanctions for threats or harm to victims or to those handling cases. The feasibility of introducing a database to monitor teachers who have been sacked from profession to ensure they are not employed elsewhere should also be considered.

Monitoring and reporting

A more holistic but simplified monitoring tool could collect more accurate data that is also more useful in informing policy and practice at different levels. This could include monitoring initiatives and

structures embedded in the school to address SRGBV, and numbers of cases reported to committees could be one or two of these indicators (perhaps 1. number of mild cases reported to the GFT and 2. number of serious cases reported to the SRGBV Committee). For example, a quarterly report including few key quantitative indicators complemented by qualitative reflective comments on successes, opportunities and challenges could provide the basis for supportive monitoring visits by woreda Gender Focal Persons to schools, and quantitative data could be fed into EMIS at the school level. Harmonising these indicators with those for Child Protection would also be valuable.

Specific training and support and a clearer format and guidance would help schools to record cases of violence. A template for a first level tool, which gathers information about individual cases – would be useful for schools. It would also be valuable to include SRGBV prevention and monitoring as one of the inspection criteria for safer learning environments.

Resources

Significant funds are needed to support the areas outlined here, and for related supportive activities such as the work of the Girls Clubs, and ongoing training and support for schools. With increased collaboration with other government departments and non-governmental organisations it may be possible to share resources. For example, certain organisations or authorities may be well placed to provide community training or help to work with victim support services, but these will need careful mapping.

Global Recommendations

There is much that other countries can learn from this work on policy enactment on SRGBV in Ethiopia, including the engagement of multiple stakeholders in the initial development of the Code of Practice, and the development of gender structures at national, regional, local and school levels to support work on SRGBV. Gender focal teachers in schools and student participation of girls and boys are also important protagonists in work to prevent and respond to SRGBV. The Government's prioritisation of research has also been valuable, both to review current policies, structures and approaches to addressing SRGBV, and to examine how the Code of Practice has been enacted within school communities, in order to inform further refining of the use of the Code.

In developing their own codes of conduct, other countries will benefit from drawing on detailed contextual evidence on SRGBV and its roots in norms and inequalities, and from reviews of current policies, structures and approaches and their effectiveness in the country, and global best practice in effectively addressing SRGBV. Code development needs broad participation from multiple organisations and constituencies and different levels. Careful balancing of top-down policy guidance and local ownership and problem solving is important: in this sense a skeleton Code with perhaps essential content and suggestions for additional areas could be helpful, accompanied by training or reflective guides for working at local level to address SRGBV. Significant resources are required to do this effectively, and partnerships with organisations with expertise in these areas could be beneficial. Finally, codes of practice should go beyond punishment, to supporting the expertise of school communities, including adults and students, in preventing violence and in helping to create safer, more equitable schools.

References

- ALTINYELKEN, H. K. & LE MAT, M. 2017. Sexual violence, schooling and silence: teacher narratives from a secondary school in Ethiopia. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 1-17.
- ANANGISYE, W. A. 2011. Promoting Teacher Ethics in Colleges of Teacher Education in Tanzania: Practices and Challenge. *African Journal of Teacher Education*, 1.
- BALL, S. J., MAGUIRE , M. & BRAUN, A. 2012. *How Schools do Policy. Policy enactments in secondary schools,* New York, Routledge.
- BEKELE, A. B., VAN AKEN, MARCEL A. G. & DUBAS, J. S. 2012. Sexual violence victimization among female secondary school student in Eastern Ethiopia. *Violence and Victims*, 26, 608-630.
- DALUXOLO, N. N. & MOLETSANE, R. 2015. Using transformative pedagogies for the prevention of gender-based violence: Reflections from a secondary school-based intervention. *Agenda*, 29, 66-78.
- DEVRIES, K., M., KNIGHT, L., CHILD, J. C., MIREMBE, A., JANET, N., JONES, R., STURGESS, J., ALLEN, E., KYEGOMBE, N., PARKES, J., WALAKIRA, E., ELBOURNE, D., WATTS, C. & NAKER, D. 2015. The Good School Toolkit for reducing physical violence from school staff to primary school students: a cluster-randomised controlled trial in Uganda. *Lancet Glob Health*, 3, e378–86.
- DHS 2016. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) 2016. The DHS Program, ICF Rockville, Maryland, USA: Central Statistical Agency (CSA) and ICF, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- DITO, B. B. 2015. Women's Intrahousehold Decision-Making Power and Their Health Status: Evidence from Rural Ethiopia. *Feminist Economics*, 21, 168-190.
- ERULKAR, A. 2013. Early marriage, marital relations and intimate partner violence in Ethiopia. International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health, 6-13.
- FANCY, K. & MCASLAN FRASER, E. 2014. Violence against women and girls: addressing violence against women and girls in education programming Part A.
- FANCY, K. & MCASLAN FRASER, E. 2014b. DFID Guidance Note on Addressing Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) in Education Programmes – Part B.
- FDRE MOE 2014. Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools. Addis: Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, Ministry of Education.
- FEDERAL DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF ETHIOPIA 1995. The Constitution of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, Addis Ababa, 21st August 1995, Proclomatoin No. 1/1995. *In:* FEDERAL NEGARIT GAZETA, O. F. D. R. O. E. (ed.) *Addis Ababa*.
- FORSTER, D. J. 2012. Codes of Ethics in Australian Education: Towards a National Perspective. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 37, n9.
- HAILEMARIAM, T. 2015. School Related Gender Based Violence (SRGBV) in Ethiopia, Desk Review: Final Report.
- HESLOP, J., PARKES, J., JANUARIO, F., SAMWEL, S. S. & HESS, T. 2015. Sexuality, sexual norms and schooling: Choice-coercion dilemmas. *In:* (ED), J. P. (ed.) *Gender Violence in Poverty Contexts: The Educational Challenge*. London: Routledge.
- HONG, J. S. 2008. Feasibility of the Olweus bullying prevention program in low-income schools. *Journal of School Violence*, 8, 81-97.
- JACKSON, R. D., BOUFFARD, L. A. & FOX, K. A. 2014. Putting policy into practice: Examining school districts' implementation of teen dating violence legislation. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 25, 503-524.
- JANSEN, J. D. 2004. Autonomy and accountability in the regulation of the teaching profession: A South African case study. *Research Papers in Education*, 19, 51-66.
- KEBEDE, M. T., HILDEN, P. K. & MIDDELTHON, A.-L. 2014. Negotiated silence: the management of the self as a moral subject in young Ethiopian women's discourse about sexuality. *Sex Education*, 14, 666-678.

- LE MAT, M. L. 2016. 'Sexual violence is not good for our country's development'. Students' interpretations of sexual violence in a secondary school in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Gender and Education*, 1-19.
- LEACH, F. 2015. Researching Gender Violence in Schools in Poverty Contexts: Conceptual and methodological challenges. *In:* PARKES, J. (ed.) *Gender Violence in Poverty Contexts: The educational challenge.* London: Routledge.
- LEVINSKY, Z. 2016. "Not Bad Kids, Just Bad Choices": Governing School Safety Through Choice. Canadian Journal of Law & Society/La Revue Canadienne Droit et Société, 31, 359-381.
- MCLAUGHLIN, C., SWARTZ, S., COBBETT, M. & KIRAGU, S. 2015. Inviting Backchat: How schools and communities in Ghana, Swaziland and Kenya support children to contextualise knowledge and create agency through sexuality education. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 41, 208-216.
- MENET-UNICEF 2015. Etude sur le bien-être et la sécurité des élèves dans les écoles de Côte d'Ivoire. Abidjan, Republique de Côte d'Ivoire: Ministere de l'education nationale et de l'enseignement technique (MENET), Fonds des Nations Unies pout l'Enfance, UNICEF.
- MESTRY, R. & KHUMALO, J. 2012. Governing bodies and learner discipline: managing rural schools in South Africa through a code of conduct. *South African journal of education*, 32, 97-110.
- MITCHELL, M., MICHELLE, G., KATE, G. & KELSEY, B. 2014. What works in tackling homophobic, biphobic and transphobic (HBT) bullying among school-age children and young people? Evidence review and typology of initiatives. 1-29.
- MULUGETA, E. 2016. Mapping Report for Young Lives Research Policy Program on Violence Affecting Children and Youth (VACAY).
- NEUMAN, W. L. & ROBSON, K. 2007. Basics of social research: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. *Power*, 48, 48.
- OLIVER, E., SOLER, M. & FLECHA, R. 2009. Opening Schools to All (Women): Efforts to Overcome Gender Violence in Spain. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 30, 207-218.
- OLSON, R. M. & GARCÍA-MORENO, C. 2017. Virginity testing: a systematic review. *Reproductive health*, 14, 61.
- PANKHURST, A., NEGUSSIE, N. & MULUGETA, E. 2016. Understanding Children's Experiences of Violence in Ethiopia: Evidence from Young Lives, Innocenti Working Paper.
- PARKES, J., HESLOP, J., JOHNSON ROSS, F., WESTERVELD, R. & UNTERHALTER, E. 2017b. Addressing SRGBV in Ethiopia: A scoping study of policy and practice to reduce gender-based violence in and around schools. UCL Institute of Education.
- PARKES, J., HESLOP, J., ROSS, F. J., WESTERVELD, R. & UNTERHALTER, E. 2016. A Rigorous Review of Global Research Evidence on Policy and Practice on School-Related Gender-Based Violence. New York: United Nations Children's Fund, Education Section, Programme Division.
- PARKES, J., ROSS, F. J., HESLOP, J., WESTERVELD, R. & UNTERHALTER, E. 2017. Addressing School-Related Gender-Based Violence in Côte d'Ivoire, Togo, Zambia and Ethiopia: A Cross-country Report. London: UCL Institute of Education.
- PELLS, K., PORTELA, M. J. O. & REVOLLO, P. E. 2016. Experiences of Peer Bullying among Adolescents and Associated Effects on Young Adult Outcomes: Longitudinal Evidence from Ethiopia, India. Innocenti Discussion Paper.
- REID, C. 2009. Schooling responses to youth crime: building emotional capital. *International Journal* of Inclusive Education, 13, 617-631.
- SAVE THE CHILDREN, MOE & MOWA 2008. A Study on Violence against Girls in Primary Schools and Its Impacts on Girls' Education in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa. . Save the Children Denmark, Ministry of Education & Ministry of Women's Affairs.
- WINTON, S. 2011. Managing conduct: A comparative policy analysis of safe schools policies in Toronto, Canada and Buffalo, USA. *Comparative Education*, **47**, 247-263.

Appendices





በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጸታዊ ጥቃትኘ ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

ትምህርት ሚኒስቴር 2006 Ministry of Education 2014



በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

ትምህርት ሚኒስቴር 2006

Ministry of Education

2014

በትያማብርት ቤቶች የሚፈፅያካ ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካከል የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 3

Ծግቢ ያ

Preamble

11.6.86 መንግስትና 117 በአለም አቀፍ የስብአዊ f from ስምምነቶችና ድንጋጌዎች የተረጋገጡትን ልጆች የሰው እኩልነት ከብርና ነፃነት በየትኛውም ቦታና macs ማስከበር 2.16 ግዴታ በመሆኑና ማንኛውም ህጻን Papanc I 07977 manpg ምቹ የመጣሪያ አካባበ. የጣግኝት መብት ያለው በመሆኑ ፤

ጾታዊ ጥቃት የሰብአዊ መብት ዋሰት ሲሆን በተለይም በትምህርት ቤቶች አካባቢ እየተፈፀመ ያለው የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባር ጤናጣ የትምህርት ሂደት እንዳይኖር እንቅፋት እየሆነ በመምጣቱ ፤

የጾታዊ ጥቃት በሁለቱም ፆታዎች ላይ የሚፈፀም ተግባር ቢሆንም ፣ በተለይ የችግሩ ተጋላጭ የሆኑት 6.7 十四乙里辛 ትምህርታቸውን ከወንዶች በመከታተል አኩል ውጤታማ እንዳይሆኑና አንዲሁም 1409 十四乙里干 የትምህርት ተሳትሮ ብቃትና ውጤታጣነት የሚያቀጭጭ በመሆኑ ፣

በቅድመ መደበኛ ፣ በአንደኛ (1-8)ና ሁለተኛ ደረጃ (9-12) በሚገኙ ትምህርት ቤቶች WHEREAS it is mandatory to respect rights of equality, dignity and freedom of humanity according to the constitution of FDRE, International Human Rights Agreements and declarations, all children have the right to learn freely within friendly and conducive learning environment;

WHEREAS gender based violence is also violence of human rights. Gender based violence that is happening around schools is becoming a great obstacle against healthy and smooth teaching learning process;

WHEREAS both women and men are victims of school related gender based violence, females are more vulnerable. This makes it difficult for girls to attend their schooling at equal footing with boys and hence hinders their attendance, Academic performance and efficiency;

WHEREAS it is crucial to create a teaching-learning environment that is free from gender based

4

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከል የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools



እየተፈፀሙ ያሉ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባራትን ለመከላከል ፣ ለመቀነስና ብሎም በሂደት ለጣጥፋት ከጾታዊ ጥቃት የጸዳ ምቹ አካባቢ በዘላቂነት መፍጠር አስፈላጊ ሆኖ በመገኘቱ ፣

የትምህርት ሚኒስቴር የኢትዮጲያ ፌዴራላዊ ዲሞክራሲያዊ ሪፐብሊክ አስፈጻሚ አካላትን ስልጣንና ተግባር ለመወሰን በወጣዉ አዋጅ ቁጥር 691/2003 በተሰጠዉ ስልጣን መሰረት ይህንን መመሪያ አውዋቷል ፡፡ violence; to prevent, minimize and eventually eliminate acts of gender based violence at pre-school, primary school (1st to 8th grades) as well as secondary school (9th to 12th grades) levels.

This code of conduct is issued by the Federal Ministry of Education with its mandate given to it by Proclamation number 691/2010, to regulate the power and responsibility of its executive bodies.

6

በትምህርት ቤቶች የጫፈመም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

'ክፍb አንድ፡ - ጠቅካካ Part One: General

1. አጭር ርዕስ

ይህ መመሪያ "በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈጸም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን በሚመለከት የወጣ መመሪያ" ተብሎ ሊጠቀስ ይችላል ; ;

2. ትርጓሚ

የቃሉ አንባብ ሌላ ትርንም የሚያሰጠው ካልሆነ በስተቀር በዚህ መመሪያ ፣

2.1." ፆታዊ ጥቃት" ማለት አንድን ግለሰብ ሴት ወይም ወንድ በመሆኑ ማለትም ፆታን ወይም ስርዓተ ጾታን መሠረት በማድረግ በግለሰቡ ስነ ልባዊና አካላዊ ጤንነት ፤ እድገት እና ማንነት ላይ አሉታዊ ጉዳት የሚያደርሱ ማንኛዉንም ተግባራት መፈጸም ሆኖ ጥቃቱም ወሲባዊ ፤ አካላዊ ፤ ስነልቦናዊ እና ማህበራዊና ኢኮኖሚያዊ ጥቃትን ያካትታል : :

> 2.1.1" ወ ሲ ባ ዊ ዋቃት" ማለት ወሲባዊ ትንኮሳ ፣ወሲባዊ ብዝበዛ ፤ መድፈር ሰዎችን ያለፍላንት ለወሲብ ንግድ እንዲሰማሩ ማድረግን ያካትታል

1. Shorter Title

This regulation can be referred to as "Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools, shortly SRGBV."

2. Definitions

Unless and otherwise the terminologies implied another definition, under this regulation:

2.1. "Gender Based Violence": includes any form of sexual, physical, psychological, social as well as economical violence based on sex or gender that results in harming psychological, physical wellbeing and, growth and personality of an individual.

> 2.1.1. "Sexual Violence": includes sexual harassment, sexual exploitation, rape, trafficking/ forcing for commercial sex work.

> > 7

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 2.1.2" አካላዊ ጥቃት" ማለት ፆታን መሰረት በማደረግ መደብደብ ፤ በትምህርት ቤት ውስጥ የሚፈጸም አካላዊ ቅጣት ፤ ቅሚያና የጉልበት ብዝበዛን ያካትታል

2.1. 3" ስንልቦናዊ ጥቃት" ጣለት 83.3 መስረት Pm. 6.090 HA4 7 አድርጎ የቅጽል ስም መስጠት ፣ 906667 7 ጣንቋሸሽና የስንልቦና 6BG ማሳደርን ያካትታል

2.1.4 " ጣ ህ በ ራ ዊ ና ኢኮኖሚያዊ ጥቃት" ጣለት ጣህበራዊና ኢኮኖሚያዊ አገልግሎቶችንና ጥቅሞችን ጾታን መስረት በጣድረግ አንዳያገኙ መከልከልን ያካትታል : :

2.2. "የትምህርት ቤት ማህበረሰብ" ጣለት neg an (1-8) 5 መደበኛ ፣በአንደኛ ሁለተኛ ደረጃ (9-12) ትምህርት ቤቶች ወስጥ የሚገኙ መደበኛና 8mg ተማሪዎች ፤ 0090063 ፣ርእስ መምህራንና ድጋፍ ስጨ ሠራተዋችን ያጠቃልላል ፡፡

2.3. "ርእስ መምህር" ማለት አንድን ትምህርት ቤት በበላይነት እንዲመራ የተመደበ ሃላፊ ሆኖ 2.1.2. "Physical Violence": includes gender based beating, physical punishment at school, robbery, labor exploitation.

2.1.3. '' P s y c h o l o g i c a l Violence": includes gender based harassment, name-calling, threatening, bullying, negative psychological influence.

2.1.4. "Social and Economic Violence": gender based denial of social and economic services as well as benefits.

2.2. "School Society": includes regular and extension students, teachers, principals and support staff in pre-school, primary school (1st to 8th grades) as well as secondary school (9th to 12th grades).

2.3. "Principals": one who is entrusted to manage a school which also includes the vice

8

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ምክትል ርእሳነ መምህራንን ያካታል፡፡

24 " አስተዳደርና 274 16.45" ማለት <u>Ů.</u>, የአስተዳደር ፣የቢዝነስ hool.C : የፋይናንስና ሂሳብ ስራ ፣ዋገናና ዋበቃ የመሳሰሉትን 19967 የሚያከናዉን የትምህርት 0.4 0645

2.5" መምህር" ማለት በትምህርት ቤቱ በመደበኛ ፣ መደበኛ ባልሆነና በማታ ትምህርት በማስተማር ወይም በማመቻቸት ተግባር ላይ የተሰማራ ግለሰብ ነው.

2.6" ተማሪ" ማለት በትምህርት ቤቱ በመደበኛ ፣ መደበኛ ባልሆነና በማታ ትምህርት በመማር ተግባር ላይ የተሰማራን ያካትታል

2.7." ወላጅ apgoUC. 196 10.027 (ot out) " ጣለት በአንድ ትምህርት ቤት ውስዋ በወላጆችና በትምህርት 64 መካካል ያለዉን ጤናጣ ግንኙነትና San and 卵軍 ማስተማር 2.2.7 የተመስረተ ለመፍጠር 1.20.0 50.3

2.8. "ትምህርት ቢሮ" ማለት የክልሉን ትምህርትና ስልጠና ለመምራት የተቋቋመ የክልል መ/ ቤት ነው principal

2.4. "Administration and Support staff": includes staff of a school that is engaged in administration, business management, Finance and Accounting, Maintenance, Security and other similar activities

2.5. "Teacher": a staff that is engaged in teaching or facilitating regular, part-time as well as extension class sessions.

2.6. "Student": includes a person who is attending formal, non-formal and/or extension class sessions.

2.7. "Parent Teacher Student Association": an association in a school that is established to create and follow-up healthy relationship and conducive teaching-learning environment amongst parents, students and teachers which is entrusted with the responsibilities as indicated in the school management guide line of the MoE

2.8. "Education Bureau": regional office that is established to guide and lead the academia (teaching and training) in a region

9

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከቱ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

2.9. "ትምህርት ቤት" ማለት የቅድመ መደበኛ ፣የአንደኛ (1-8) ና የሁለተኛ ደረጃ (9-12) ትምህርትን በመስጠት ላይ የተሰጣራ የመንግስት ፣የግል ወይም መንግስታዊ ያልሆነ ተቋም ነው

2.10. "ክልላዊ መንግስት" ማለት በኢትዮጵያ ፌዴራላዊ ዲሞክራሲያዊ ሪፐብሊክ ሕገ መንግስት አንቀጽ 47(1) የተገለጹትን የክልል መንግስታትን ሲሆን የአዲስ አበባና የድሬደዋ ከተሞች አስተዳደሮችን ይጨምራል።

2.11." የዖታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ" ማለት በትምህርት ቤቱ ርእስ መምህር የሚቋቋም የዖታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የውሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ ነው ; ;

2.12." ተ7ቢ ጥበቃ" ማለት በዚህ መመሪያ መሰረት አቤቱታ ላቀረበ ፣ የጾታዊ ዋቃት አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ አባል ንምስክርንት ለሰጠ ፣አንዲሁም a.42 Δûm የትምህርት አባል 9902AA አቤቱታ በማቅረቡ ፤ ിന്നത. የምስክርንት ቃል ወይም ባቀረበው. የወሳኔ ሃሳብ ከሚደርስበት አሉታዊ ጫና ለመከላከል የሚደረግ ጥበቃ 50.5

2.13. "የዲሲፕሊን ኮሚቴ" ማለት የፌደራል የመንግስት ሰራተኞች 2.9. "School": a private, governmental or non-governmental institution that provides education at pre-school, primary school (1st to 8th grades) as well as secondary school (9th to 12th grades) levels

2.10. "Regional Government": regional governments that are listed in the constitution of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, Article 47(1) including the federal city administrations of Addis Ababa and Dire Dawa.

2.11. "School Related Gender Based Violence Complaints Investigation and Decisions Recommending Committee": a committee established by the school principal to hear complaints of gender based violence, clarify the complaints and provides decisions

2.12. "Legitimate Protection": from a protection negative influences provided for those who make complaints of gender based violence, the members of Gender Based Violence Complaints investigation and Decisions Recommending Committee, those who testify to/against these cases, decision makers who conduct according to this regulation.

2.13. "Discipline Committee":

10 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools የዲሲፕሊንና ቅሬታ አቀራረብና አፈጻጸም ደንብ ቁጥር 77/ 1994 መሰረት የተቋቋመ ኮሚቴ ነዉ። a committee established according to Federal Public Servants Complaints Reporting Execution regulation number 77/2011

2.14. በዚህ መመሪያ ውስሞ በወንድ ፆታ የተገለጸዉ በሴትም ተፈዓሚ ይሆናል ፡ ፡

3. የተፈፃሚነት ወሰን

3.1. ይህ መመሪያ በቅድመ መደበኛ ፣ በአንደኛ (1-8) ና ሁለተኛ ደረጃ (9-12) ትምህርት ቤቶች በሚገኙ የትምህርት ማህበረሰብ አባላት መካከል በትምህርት ቤቱ ቅጥር ግቢ ውስጥም ሆነ ውጪ ዶታዊ ጥቃትን በሚፈጽሙት ላይ ተግባራዊ ይሆናል ፡ ፡

3.2. ይህ መመሪያ በአዲስ አበባና ድሬዳዋ ከተማ አስተዳደሮች በቅድመ መደበኛ ፣ በአንደኛ (1-8)ና ሁለተኛ ደረጃ (9-12) ትምህርት ቤቶች ላይ ተግባራዊ ይደረጋል።

3.3. በተራ ቁጥር 3.2 የተገለጸው. እንደተጠበቀ ሆኖ የክልል ትምህርት በሮዎች ይህንን መመሪያ መስረት በማድረግ ከክልሉ ተጨባጭ ሁኔታ ጋር በማገናዘብና በማጣጣም የጾታዊ ዋቃት መመሪያ ማዉጣት ወይም ይህንን መመሪያ ሥራ ላይ ማዋል ይችላሉ ::

3. Limit of Application

3.1. This code of conduct is applicable on whoever commits acts of school related gender based violence in pre-school, primary school (1st to 8th grades) as well as secondary school (9th to 12th grades) setting.

3.2. This code of conduct is also applicable in pre-schools, primary schools (1st to 8th grades) as well as secondary schools (9th to 12th grades) within city administrations of Addis Ababa and Dire Dawa

3.3. The regional education bureaus may contextualize without suppressing the purpose for which the code of conduct is issued, or may put into effect this regulation as it is.

11

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከቱ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

12 —

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጸታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካከል የመጣ ፈቂቅ መመወሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools



<mark>ክፍ<mark>b ሁ</mark>ከት፡-የጾታዊ ጥቃት ዓይነቶች</mark>

Part Two: Types of School Related Gender Based Violence

<mark>ክፍክ ሁከት፡</mark> -የጾታዊ ጥቃት ዓይነቶች

4 ቀካከና ከባድ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ባይነቶች፣

በዚህ መመሪያ ክፍል አንድ ተራ ቁጥር 2(1) ለጾታዊ ጥቃት የተሰጠው ትርጉም እንደተጠበቀ ሆኖ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባራት የሚከተሉትን ያካትታል ን

4.1 ቀላል የጾታዊ ጥቃት ዓይነቶች ፣

> 4.1.1 አስነዋሪ በሆነ መልኩ ወሲብ ቀስቃሽ የሰዉነት ክፍሎችን/አካላትን አጋልጦ ማሳየትና ለወሲብ በሚያነሳሳ መልኩ የአካል አንቅስቃሴ ማድረግ ፣

4.1.2 ትምህርት በሚሰጥበት ጊዜ ከትምህርት ቤቱ ደንብና an ands (D.6b). 8231 ልብስን (207 றதே ዩኒፎርምና ቱታ) ባለማድረግ ወይም በአግባቡ ባለመጠቀም ስወሲ ብ ስሜት 0928499 しょナ አካልን አጋልጦ ጣሳየት ፣እንዲሁም 6830 የሌላቸው. ልብስ ሰራተዋቾ አካላቸው.ን $\Delta \sigma 0.0$ ስሜት 0928299 መልኩ አጋልጦ መልበስ ፤

Part Two: Types of School Related Gender Based Violence

4. Light and Grave forms of School Related Gender Based Violence

The definitions listed under number 2 of this code of conduct are applicable while acts of SRGBV include the following;

4.1. Less Severe forms of School Related Gender Based Violence

4.1.1. Exposing sexual/body parts and showing movements/ dancing in a way that is sexually provocative,

4.1.2. Revealing the body in an immodest way that is sexually provocative in school hours against the regulations and Code of Conducts of the school by not wearing uniforms (for the school community that has uniforms like teachers and students) or dressing up in a way that provokes others sexually (for the school community that does not have uniforms)

14

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 4.1.3 ጾታን የሚያንቋሽሹ ዕሁፎችን ፣መጽሔቶችንና ምስሎችን ወደ ትምህርት ቤት ይዞ መምጣት ፣ ለሌሎች ማሳየት እንዲሁም መለጠፍ ፣

4.1.4. 8+3 ጣንቋሸሽ ፣ ማጥላላት ፣ ማናናቅና : ወሲባዊ ሁኔታን የሚያንፀባርቁ ቧልቶች ፣ ቀልዶች ፣ ዋያቄዎች ፣ አስተያየቶች ፣ 7ጠመዋች hG ሌሎች ተመሳሳይ ተግባራትን ከሌላው ሰው ፈቃድ ውጪ መናገርና ማስተላለፍ ፣

4.1.5.የእንድ ሰው ዖታ ወይም ተክለ ሰውነት ወይም አለባበስን በተመለከተ አሉታዊ አስተያየቶች ፣ ነቀፌታዎች ፣ ያልተፈለጉና አዋራጅ መገለጫዎችን ፣ ቁጣ ቀስቃሽ ቅዕል ስሞችን መጠቀም ፣

4.1.6 Pon.A ምስልን 833 የሚያንቋሽሹ 1 ፎቶግራፎችና ምስሎችን 75 የፅሁፍ መልእክቶችን በኤሌክትሮኒክስ ጣለትም መሣሪያዎች በሞባይል ፣በኮምፒየተርና 78 520 በመሳሰሉት ለመመልከትና ለመቀበል ፍቃደኝነቱን 0788 ላል7ለጸ ሰው ማሳየት ወይም ማስተላለፍ ፣

4.1.3. Bringing to school, showing or posting writings, magazines or pictures that discriminate a specific gender,

4.1.4. Gender discrimination, blackmailing, belittling, telling and communicating erotic jokes, comments, questions, encounters or other similar activities done against the will of the other,

4.1.5. Using negative comments, discriminations, name calling, belittling explanations while talking/ speaking about a person's gender, physique or way of dressing

4.1.6. Showing or passing sexually provocative pictures, gender discriminating pictures and photographs and text messages via electronic devices such as mobile phones, computers and websites for a person who has not openly expressed willingness to watch or receive them,

15

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካኬ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools
4.1.7 የተግባር ትምህርቶችን (የሰዉነት ማጎልመሻና የቤተ ሙከራ ትምህርት) በሚሰጥበት ወቅት ሆን ብሎ ወሲባዊ ትንኮሳን በሚያመላክት መልኩ የአካል እንቅስቃሴዎችን ማድረግ ፣

4.1.8 በስራ ልብስ (ጋወን மைற キナ) 700.4 በትምህርትና m.hl. I ስልጠና ክፍል ግድግዳዎች ፣ ሽንት ቤቶች ፣ 89868 ከፍሎች አንዲሁም በትምህርት ሌሎች 64 ቦታዎች ውስሞ mi.fl ቀስቃሽና ጾታን የሚያንቋሽሹ ስዕሎችን መሳልና ጽሑፎች 0096 T

4.1.9 ወሲብ ቀስቃሽ ንቅሳቶችን ለአይታ ግልጽ በሆነ መልኩ በሰዉነት አካል ላይ በመነቀስ በትምህርት ቤቱ ዉስጥ መታየት ፣

4.2 ከባድ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ዓይነቶች ፣

> 4.2.1 P.00? ምስልን ፣ ፎቶግራፎች አና የፅሁፍ መልእክቶችን በህትመት ውጤቶች አንዲሁም በኤሌክትሮኒክስ መሣሪያዎች ጣለትም በሞባይል ፣በኮምፒዩተርና በድረ ገጽ በመሳሰሉት ማሳየት ወይም ጣስተላለፍ ፣

4.1.7. Deliberate showing of body gestures/movements that imply sexual harassment during practical academic sessions (physical education or laboratory sessions),

4.1.8. Drawing pictures or writing texts that are sexually provocative in nature or devaluate a specific gender on work uniforms, walls of laboratories, class and training rooms, toilets, dormitories as well as other areas of the school,

4.1.9. Wearing tattoos that are sexually provocative in a way that they are revealed to others while in the school compound,

4.2. Grave forms of Gender Based Violence

4.2.1. Showing or passing erotic/pornographic pictures, photos or texts that are in print or digitalized (on mobile phones, computers and websites)

16 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 4.2.2 በኤሌክትሮኒክስ መሣሪያዎች (የተንቀሳቃሽ ስልኮች ፣ኮምፒየተር) በትምህርት 化卡 92.2 ሚዲያ ፣ በድረ 70 ወይም በሌሎች mia m3787 የትምህርት ቤቱ ጣህበረሰብ አባልን ፣ቤተሰብንና Hooky ምስል Amme m மைற በጣስመስል @A.92 ስብእናን የሚያጋልጡና ጾታን የሚያንቋሽሹ መልእክቶችን ጣስተላለፍ

4.2.3. የሌሎችን አካላት ለወሲብ በሚገፋፋ መልኩ በመዳሰስ ፣ በመተሻሽት ፣በመሳም የሰውነት ንክኪ መፍጠር

4.2.4 አንድን የትምህርት ማህበረሰብ አባል ለወሲብ ተግባር ለማስማራት ማግባባት ወይም ማስማራት

4.2.5 ከአንድ ግለሰብ Poi.A ጥቅም ለማግኘት 86.499 ምዘና የተከታታይ ዋያቄን ፣መልስንና Ø.M. 7 መስጠት ወይም 7ንዘብን ፣ መጠለያን ፣ ምግብንና ሌሎች ቁሳቁሶችን መደለያ በጣድረግ ወሲብ ለመሬፀም መሞከር 0.89 ood.89

4.2.2. C o m m u n i c a t i n g messages that reveal sexual personality or devaluate gender using electronic devices (mobile phones, computers), school mini-media, web-pages or other similar methods and making use of pictures or imitations of any member of the school community, families and relatives for such purposes

4.2.3. Making physical contact, caressing, petting or kissing the bodies of others in a way for sexual initiation

4.2.4. Persuading or involving any member of the school community for sexual activities

4.2.5. Making use of learning assessment grading or marking for the sake of sexual exploitation or persuading with the use of money, shelter, food or other necessities in an attempt to have sex with the other person or actually engaging in sexual activity

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከከከቱ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

4.2.6 ከአንድ ግለሰብ ለቀረበ የወሲብ ዋያቄ የተሰጠ አሉታዊ ምላሽን መሰረት በጣድረግ የተከታታይ ምዘናና የፈተና ዉጤት መቀነስ መሰረዝ እና ሌሎች አሉታዊ ጫናዎችን ማሳደር

4.2.7 የአንድን የትምህርት 6.7 902040 አባል በትምህርት ቤት ወስጥም ሆነ ከትምህርት ቤት ወ.ጨ 83.3 m027 09829 በነፃነት የመንቀሳቀስ መብትን በመጋፋት እና በመከታተል የስንልቦና ጫና ጣሳደር ፣ያለ በቂ ምክንያት ከስልጠናና ከመጣሪያ ክፍል ጣስወጣት ፣

4.2.8 የስራ አፈጻጸም ግምገጣ ፣ ለስልጠና ውጤት ፣ ለደረጃ አድገት ፣ የትምህርትና ስልጠና አድልና ዝወ.ወ.ር ለመስጠት ወሲባዊ ግንኙነትን እንደ ቅድመ ሁኔታ ጣስቀመጥ ፣

4.2.9 ከአንድ 7001 ስቀረበ 928 የወሰ.ብ የተሰጠ አሉታዊ ምላሽን መስረት 09829 80% አፈዳጸም ግምገጣ ፣ የስልጠና ፕየደረጃ እድገት ፣ m.m.t. የትምህርትና ስልጠና እድልና ophana 74 ሌሎች አሉታዊ ጫናዎችን ማሳደር።

4.2.6. Jeopardizing test and learning assessment grades such as giving incomplete results or imposing negative influences based on denial of sexual advances or rejection of initiation for sexual activity

4.2.7. Denying freedom of movement or following up and tagging along in a way that results in psychological influence on any member of the school community based on gender whether inside or outside the school compound, dismissing from class or training rooms without adequate and appropriate reason,

4.2.8. Putting sexual relationship as a pre-requisite for recognizing or grading as good performance, results of trainings, job promotions, opportunities for further academia and trainings and imposing other negative influences,

4.2.9. Denying appropriate performance evaluation results, results of trainings, job promotions, opportunities for further academia and trainings and imposing other negative influences based on a person's rejection of request for sexual intimacy

18

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 4.2.10 የወሲብ ጥያቄ በቀረበለትና ጾታዊ ጥቃት በደረሰበት ግለሰብ ዙሪያ ባሉ ሶስተኛ ወገኖች ላይ ጫና ማሳደር።

4.2.11 የወሲብ ተግባርን ለመፈጸም በማስብ የትምህርት መሣሪያዎችና ዋጋ ያላቸውን ንብረቶች መቀጣት ፣ መደበቅና መያዝ ማድረግ ፣

4.2.12 በቅድመ መደበኛና አንደኛ ደረጃ ትምህርት ቤት ተማሪዎች ላይ በመምህራን ፣ በአስተዳደርና ድጋፍ ሰጨ ሰራተኞችና ርእሳነ መምህራን የሚፈጸም ማንኛዉም አይነት ጾታዊ ጥቃት ፣

4.2.13 ጾታን መስረት ያደረገ አድልዖን መፈፀም ፣

4.2.14 በትምህርት ቤቱ ዉስዋ ወሲብ መፈጸም ፣

4.2.15 የአስገድዶ መድፈር ሙከራ ወይም አስገድዶ መድፈር ፣

4.2.16 ቀላል ጾታዊ ጥቃትን በመፈፀም በተወሰደበት የቅጣት እርምጃ ባለመታረም በተደጋጋሚ ቀላል የጾታዊ ጥቃት መፈፀም ፣ **4.2.10.** Imposing negative influences on third parties that are related to the person who was asked for sexual intimacy or a person who is a victim of gender based violence

4.2.11. Robbing, hiding, or snatching academic materials or valuables as a means of persuading in the intention of obtaining sexual gratification,

4.2.12. Any form of gender based violence committed on pre-school, primary school or secondary school students by teachers, administration, deputy directors or support staff

4.2.13.Committing gender based favor,

4.2.14. Having sexual intimacy inside the school,

4.2.15. Attempt of rape or committing rape

4.2.16. Not learning from previous disciplines for Common forms of gender based violence and committing them repeatedly,

19

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከከል የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 4.2.17 በአካል ጉዳተኞች ላይ የሚፈጸም ቀላል የጾታዊ ጥቃት በከባድ የጾታዊ ጥቃት አይነቶች ከተመለከቱት የጥፋት ድርጊቶች ጋር እኩል ከብደት ይኖራቸዋል : :

4.2.18 በዚህ መመሪያ የተመለከቱትን ቀላልና ከባድ የጾታዊ ጥቃት አይነቶች እንዲፈጸም የተባበረ ወይም ያመቻች የትምህርት ቤት ጣህበረሰብ አባል እንደጥፋቱ ድርጊት በዚህ መመሪያ ክፍል ሶስት ተራ ቁጥር 5 የተመለከተው የቅጣት እርምጃ ይወሰድበታል ; ; **4.2.17.** Any Common forms of gender based violence that are committed against persons with disability are considered as a Grave form of gender based violence,

4.2.18. Any member of the school community who cooperated or participated in committing any of the Common or Grave forms of violence listed in this code of conduct will be subjected to punishment which is explained in number 5 of the third part of this code of conduct

20 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools



ክፍቴ ሶስት፡-የሚወሰዱ የአርምጃ ባይነቶች

5. የሚወሰዱ የክርምጃ

ዓይነቶች፣

ማንኛውም የትምህርት ቤቱ ማህበረሰብ በዚህ መመሪያ ክፍል ሁለት ተራ ቁጥር 4 የተመለከቱትን የጆታዊ ጥቃት አይነቶች ከፈጸመ በሌሎች ህንች የተመለከቱት ቅጣቶች እንደተጠበቁ ሆነው እንደጥፋቱ ክብደት ከሚከተሉት የእርምጃ አይነቶች አንዱ ተፈጻሚ ይደረግበታል : :

5.1. በተማሪ ላይ የሚወሰድ ቀላል እርምጃ ፣

ሀ. በቃለ ጉባኤ የተደገፈ ተግሳፅ/ የቃል ጣስጠንቀቂያ ን

ለ.የፅሁፍ ማስጠንቀቂያ ፣

5.2. በተማሪ ላይ የሚወሰድ ከባድ እርምጃ ፣

ሀ. ለአንድ የትምህርት ዓመት ጣገድ እና ወደ ሌላ ትምህርት ቤት እንዳይዛወር መሸኛ መከልከል ፣

Part Three: Types of Punishments

5. Types of Punishments

If any member of the school community commits any one of the gender based violence listed under number 4 of part two of this regulation, the following punishments are applicable in addition to the punishments stipulated in other parts of the law with the punishment determined according to the severity of the violence.

5.1. Light form of Punishment applicable on a student

a) Oral warning which is put on recording in writing

b) Written warning

5.2. Severe form of Punishment applicable on student

 a) suspension from education for a year and denying a formal withdrawal to prohibit transfer to another school

22

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ለ. ለሶስት የትምህርት ዓመት ጣገድ እና ወደ ሌላ ትምህርት ቤት እንዳይዛወር መሸኛ መከልከል ፣

ሐ.በትምህርት ዘመኑ ትምህርቱን አጠናቆ ለብሄራዊ ፈተና (8ኛ ፣10ኛ ፣12ኛ) የሚዘጋጅ ከሆነ ፈተናዉን እንዳይወስድ እንደ ጥፋቱ ከብደት ከአንድ እስከ ሁለት አመት ማገድ ፤ ወይም ብሄራዊ ፈተና ከወሰደ በኋላ ጥፋት የፈጸመ ከሆነ የፈተና የምስክር ወረቀትና መሽኛ እንደ ጥፋቱ ክብደት ከአንድ እስከ ሁለት አመት እንዳይስጠዉ ማድረግ ፣

መ. በሀገሪቱ በየትኛውም ትምህርት ቤት ለአምስት ዓመት እንዳይጣር ጣገድ ፣

5.3. በመምህራን እና አስተዳደርና ድጋፍ ሰጨ ላይ የሚወሰድ ቀላል እርምጃ ፣

ሀ. በቃለ ጉባኤ የተደገፈ የቃል ማስጠንቀቂያ ፣

ለ. የፅሁፍ ማስጠንቀቂያ ፣

ሐ. እስከ 1 ወር የሚደርስ የደመወዝ ቅጣት ፣

5.4.በመምህራን እና የአስተዳደርና ድጋፍ ሰጨ ሰራተኞች ላይ የሚወሰድ ከባድ እርምጃ ፣ b) suspension from education for three years and denying a formal withdrawal to prohibit transfer to another school

c) If s/he is sitting for national exam (8th, 10th or 12th grader) prohibiting from attending the exam for a year or two depending on the severity of the violence, if the violence is committed after sitting for national exams denying certificates and clearance for a year or two depending on the severity of the violence

 d) Prohibiting from attending in any of the schools in the country for 5 years

5.3. Light form of Punishment applicable on teachers, school administration and support staff

 a) Oral warning put on recording in a written form

b) Written warning

c) salary up to 1 month

5.4. Severe form of Punishment applicable on teachers, school administration and support staff

23

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከቱ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ሀ. የሦስት ወር ደመወዝ መቀጮ ፣

ለ. ካለበት የደመወዝ ደረጃ እስከ ሁለት ደረጃ ዝቅ ጣድረግ ፣ ጀጣሪ ከሆነ ለአንድ ጊዜ ባለበት ደረጃ ጣቆየት ፣

ሐ. የሙያ ፍቃዱን ለሁለት አመት ማገድ እና ሌላ ቦታ ሄዶ በተመሳሳይ ሙያ ለሁለት ዓመት አዳይቀጠር ሰርኩላር ማስተላለፍ ፣

መ. ከሥራ ማስናበትና ሌላ ቦታ ሄዶ በተመሳሳይ ሙያ አዳይቀጠር ስርኩላር ማስተላለፍ ፣

5.5 በርዕስ መምህር ላይ የሚወሰድ ቀላል እርምጃ

ሀ. የሦስት ወር ደመወዝ መቀጮ ፣

ለ. ካለበት የደመወዝ ደረጃ እስከ ሁለት ደረጃ ዝቅ ማድረግን ጀማሪ ከሆነ ለአንድ ጊዜ ባለበት ደረጃ ማቋየት

ሐ. ከሥልጣን ማሰናበት ፣

5.6. በርእስ መምህር ላይ የሚወሰድ ከባድ እርምጃ

ሀ.የቅጣት ዉሳኔዉ ከተላለፈበት ቀን ጀምሮ ለሶስት ዓመት ከስራ ጣገድና እና በተመሳሳይ ሙያ ለሶስት ዓመት a) penalty salary of 3 months

b) demotion of job position in two ranks, if it's a junior, keeping them at the same post up to a certain time

c) Banning the work license for two years and passing a circular letter to prevent from working in other schools

d) Dismissing from work and passing a circular letter to prevent from being hired for a similar work

5.5. Light form of Punishment applicable on the school Principal

a) Penalty of 3 months' salary

 b) Lowering the salary to two scales, if it's a junior keeping the scale the same for a certain period of time

c) Dismissal from work

5.6. Severe form of Punishment applicable the school Principal

 a) suspension from work for three years starting from the date the decision of punishment is rendered and passing a circular letter that

24 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከል የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

ሌላ ቦታ ሄዶ እናዳይቀጠር ሰርኩላር	suspends the principal for three		
ጣስተላለፍ ፣	years from being hired for the same		
ለ.የሙያ ፈቃዱን ለአምስት አመት	post in other schools		
ማገድ	 b) Suspending the Job permit for five years 		
ሐ. ከስራ ጣሰናበትና ሌላ ቦታ	c) Dismissal from work, passing		
ሄዶ በተመሳሳይ ሙያና ሃላፊነት	circular letter to prohibit from		
እንዳይቀጠር ወይም እንዳይመደብ	working at a similar post or		
ሰርኩላር ጣስተላለፍ ፣	responsibility		

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካከ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 25

_

26 —

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከከከል የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools



<mark>ክፍክ ስራት፦</mark>-የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ዛሳብ <u>አቅራቢ</u> ኮሚቴን በተመከከተ Part Four: Concerning School Related Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee <mark>ክፍክ ስራት፡</mark>- የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ዛሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ**ኘ በተመ**ከከተ Part Four: Concerning School Related Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee

6.የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና መሳኔ ዛሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ አወቃቀር፣

6.1. የጾታዊ ጥቃት አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ 7 አባላት የሚኖሩት ሲሆን አወቃቀር የፆታ ስብጥርን ያጣክለ መሆን አለበት።

6.2. የጾታዊ ጥቃት አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴው አባላት የሚከተሉት ናቸዉ ን

ሀ. የትምህርት ቤቱ የስርዓተ-ፆታ ከበብ ተጠሪ ተጣሪ ፣

ለ. በትምህርት ቤቱ ተ*ጣሪዎች* የሚመረዋ አንድ ተወካይ ተ*ጣሪ*

ሐ. የወላጅ ተ*ጣሪ መ*ምህር ህብረት (ወተመህ) ስብሳቢ

መ. የትምህርት ቤቱ መስረታዊ የመምህራን ጣህበር ሰብሳቢ ፣

w. ከአስተዳደርና ድጋፍ ሰጪ *wራ*ተኞች የሚመረዋ አንድ ተወካይን 6. Organization of the School Related Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee

6.1. The School Related Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee has 7 members constituted of both sexes

6.2. The following are the members of School Related Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee

a) A student who is the school's Gender Club representative

b) A representative who is elected by the students

c) Chairperson of the Parent Teacher Student Association

d) Chairperson of the school's Teachers' Association

e) A representative elected by the

28 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈጠም ዶታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከከከል የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ረ. የትምህርት ቤቱ መስረታዊ መምህራን ማህበር ስርአተ ጾታ ተጠሪ እና

ስ.የትምህርት ቤቱ የመጣር ጣስተጣር ምክትል ርእስ መምህር የኮሚቴው አባልና ጸሃፊ

6.3. ቅድመ መደበኛና የአንደኛ ደረጃን (ከ1ኛ-4ኛ) በተመለከተ ከላይ በ6.2. በሀ እና ለ የተጠቀሱት አባላት የኮሚቴው አባል ስለማይሆኑ ጉዳዩ በተቀሩት የኮሚቴዉ አባላት ይታያል

6.4 የትምህርት ቤቱ መሰረታዊ መምህራን ጣህበር ስርአተ ጾታ ተጠሪ የኮሚቴው ስብሳቢ ትሆናለች

6.5 የኮሚቴው ምክትል ሰብሳቢ በኮሚቴው አባላት የሚመረሞ ይሆናል ፣

6.6 የኮሚቴ የስራ ዘመን 2 ዓመት ሆኖ የተሻለ ስራ የሰሩት የኮሚቴዉ አባላት በድጋሚ ለአንድ ጊዜ መመረዋ ይችላሉ administration and support staff

f) A gender representative for the school's Teachers Association and

 g) The school's teaching-learning process vice principal as a committee member and secretary

6.3. Since the members listed under 6.2. a and b cannot be members at pre-school and primary school (1st grade – 4th grade) levels, the issue is to be investigated by the rest of the committee members

6.4. The gender representative for the school's Teachers Association becomes the chairperson for the committee

6.5. The deputy chairperson of the committee is elected by the members of the committee

6.6. The term of service of the committee is two years while the members of the committee who are known for better accomplishments could be elected to serve for one more additional term

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካል የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

7.የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና ዉሳኔ ዛሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ አባካት መምረጫ መስፈርት፣

ጣንኛውም የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና ዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ አባል ን

7.1. በመልካም ስነ-ምግባር አርአያ የሆነ ፣

7.2. ከዚህ ቀደም በጾታዊ ጥቃት ወይም በሌሎች ወንጀሎች ተከሶ ያልተቀጣ ፣

7.3. ቢያንስ በትምህርት ቤት ውስጥ ለአንድ ዓመት የቆየ መሆን አለበት : :

8.የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ዛሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ ሥክጣኘና ተግባር፣

8.1. መመሪያዉን ለተቋሙ ማህበረሰብ የማስተዋወቅና የግንዛቤ ማስጨበዋ ስራዎችን ይስራል : :

8.2. የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የውሳኔ ሀሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ በአንቀጽ 11.3 የተጠቀሱትን ዝርዝሮች የያዘ የአቤቱታ

7. Criteria for choosing members SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions recommending committee

Any one of the members of SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions providing committee should be:

7.1. Exemplary in good discipline

7.2. Never been accused and punished for gender based violence or other crimes

7.3. Have been in the school for at least a year

8. The Authority and job descriptions of the SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions providing committee

8.1. Introducing the code of conduct and creating awareness to the community of the institution

8.2. The SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions providing committee prepares forms that contain the lists under

30 —

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ማመልከቻዎች የሚቀርቡባቸው ቅጾች ማዘጋጀት አለበት ፡፡

8.3. በትምህርት ቤቱ ውስጥ የጾታዊ ዋቃት ዋፋት ድርጊት ተፈጽሞብኛል የሚል አቤቱታ ሲቀርብለት በመመርመር የዉሳኔ ሀሳብ ያቀርባል።

8.4 አቤቱታዎችን ñ.∞2.9℃. አቤቱታ አቅራቢን ፣አቤቱታ የቀረበበትን றை ምስክሮችን የመሞራትና የመስማት ፣ከጉዳዩ ጋር ተያያዠነት ያላቸውን ሰንዶች (የጽሁፍና የኤሌክትሮኒክስ ጣስረጃዎችን) እንዲቀርቡለት የጣዘዝ ፣ ሰነዱ ባለበት ቦታ ሄዶ የማየትና ሌሎች ለምርመራ ተግባሩ 8183-እርምጃዎችን 106.07 ይወስዳል : :

8.5. በርእስ መምህር ወይም በምክትል ርእሳን መምህራን የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተፈጽሞብኛል የሚል አቤቱታ በቀረበለት ጊዜ ኮሚቴው ጉዳዩን አጣርቶ የውሳኔ ሃሳብ በየደረጃዉ ስልጣን ላለው የትምህርት መዋቅር ያቀርባል ; ;

8.6 ኮሚቴው የቀረበውን አቤቱታ ከቀጠሮወ. 10 ቀናት 11.3 which can be used for filing complaints

8.3. When complaint informing that gender based violence has occurred in the school and is received, the committee investigates and provides decisions

8.4. Whenever complaints are investigated, the committee calls for the person who filed the complaint, the person who is accused of violence or witnesses to listen to the testimony; requests for documents (be it written or digital evidences) that are related to the matter under investigation, be present physically to look through the documents if they are not presented to them and performs other activities necessary for the investigation.

8.5. Whenever complaints of school related gender based violence are received against the school director or deputy director, the committee investigates the matter and passes the decisions to the next upper hierarchy in the education structure for its decision.

8.6. The committee should inform the person who is accused

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

አስቀድሞ አቤቱታ ለቀረበበት ሰው እንዲደርሰው ጣድረግ አለበት ፡ ፡

8.7 በአቤቱታዎች ላይ የውሳኔ ሃሳብ ከመቅረቡ በፊት ጾታዊ ጥቃቱ እንዲቆም የሚያደርግ ጊዜያዊ ትእዛዝ ሊሰጥ ይችላል : :

9. የስብሰባ ሥነ-ስርዋት

9.1. ኮሚቴው በ15 ቀን አንድ ጊዜ ወይም ለትምህርት ቤቱ የኦታዊ ጥቃት አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ ሰብሳቢ/ጸሃፊ በቀረቡ አቤቱታዎች አስችኳይነት መሠረት በማድረግ ሊሰበሰብ ይችላል ፡ ፡

9.2. ኮሚቴው የሚያቀርበው የውሣኔ ሃሣብ በአብላጫ ድምፅ ይወሰናል ፤ድምፅ እኩል ከሆነ ስብሳቢዉ ያለበት ወሳኝ ድምፅ ይኖረዋል ; ;

9.3. የኮሚቴው ምልዓተ ጉባኤ ተሟልቷል የሚባለዉ የኮሚቴዉ ከግማሽ በላይ አባላት ሲገኙ ነው ፡ ፡

9.4 የጾታዊ ጥቃት አቤቱታ አጣሪና የውሳኔ ሀሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴው ስብሳቢ በማይኖርበት ጊዜ ምክትል ስብሳቢዉ ተክቶ ይስራል ; ; of violence 10 days prior to the appointment.

8.7. The committee passes temporary orders that prevent the gender based violence from happening before decisions are provided on the complaints of violence

9. Meetings

9.1. The committee holds meetings once in 15 days and also when complaints of violence are received by the SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions providing committee

9.2. The decision provided by the committee passes when voted by the majority. If equal numbers of the committee are for it and against it, decision is passed based on which decision the Chair person has voted for,

9.3. The committee is said to be able to undergo a meeting when more than half of the members are present

9.4. Whenever complaints are received in the absence of the chair person for the committee the vice-chair leads the meetings

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከል የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

32 -

10. የኮሚቴ አባካት መከተከ ስከሚገባቸው የሥነ-ምግባር መርሆዎች፣

10.1. ማንኛውም የኮሚቴ አባል በኮሚቴ አባልነቱ ያወቃቸውን ማንኛውንም ጉዳዮች በሚስጥር መጠበቅ አለበት ፡ ፡

10.2. ማንኛውም የኮሚቴ አባል አቤቱታዎች Am-4% የቀረቡ ከራሱ ፣ ከቅርብ ዓደኛው ወይም ከዘመዱ ጋር የተያያዙ መሆናቸውን ባወቀ ጊዜ በተጠቀሰው ጉዳይ ላይ ከአባልነት እራሱን ማግለል አለበት ወይም ይህንን አስመልክቶ ምስክር 1 002.89 9023 ከቀረበበት የቀረበመን አቤቱታ 13988 886238 : :

10.3. ማንኛውም የኮሚቴ አባል አቤቱታዎችን በሚያይበት ወቅት በፆታ ፣ በዘር ፣ በሃይማኖት ፣ በፖለቲካ አመለካከት ፣ በአካል ጉዳት ወይም ሌላ ሁኔታን መሠረት ያደረገ አድልዖ መፈፀም የለበትም ፡፡

10.4. ከዚህ በላይ የተዘረዘፉትንና ሌሎች በኮሚቴው የሚወሰኑ የሥነ-ምግባር መርሆዎችን የጣስ ወይም በማናቸውም ሁኔታ የኮሚቴውን ሥራ ያደናቀፈ

10. Principles of discipline followed by the Committee Members

10.1. Confidentiality should be maintained concerning any complaints and issues handled by the committee

10.2. Any member of the committee should not take part in the investigation and decision making of complaint when the complaint is related to her/himself, a close friend or relative or will not be allowed to take part when witnesses, information or evidence is presented about it.

10.3. Any member of the committee should not favor based on gender, race, religion, political stands, disability or any other reason while working on complaint reports

10.4. Any member of the committee who conducts against the principles listed above or hindered the work of the committee in anyway is removed from

33

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካቴ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools የኮሚቴ አባል ከአባልነቱ መሠረዙ እንደተጠበቀ ሆኖ በትምህርት ቤቱ ደንብ መሰረት በዲስኝሊን ጉድለት ተጠያቂ ይሆናል ፡ ፡

11. የአቤቱታ አቀራረብ ሥነ-ሥርባት፣

11.1. ጣንኛውም ቀላል የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባር ተፈፅሞብኛል የሚል ሰው ወይም የተጠቂዉ ወላጅና አሳዳጊ ወይም ጉዳዩ ይመለከተኛል የሚል አካል ጥቃቱ ከተፈጸመበት ወይም መፈጸሙ ከታወቀት ጊዜ ጀምሮ በ10 የስራ ቀናት ውስጥ ለኮሚቴዉ ስብሳቢ ወይም ጸሃፊ በጽሁፍ ማቅረብ ይኖርበታል ; ;

11.3. ማንኛውም ከባድ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባር ተፈፅሞብኛል የሚል ሰው ወይም የተጠቂዉ ወላጅና አሳዳጊ ወይም ጉዳዩ ይመለከተኛል የሚል አካል ጥቃቱ ከተፈጸመበት ወይም መፈጸሙ ከታወቀት ጊዜ ጀምሮ በ30 የስራ ቀናት ውስጥ ለኮሚቴዉ ስብሳቢ ወይም ጸሃፊ በጽሁፍ ማቅረብ ይኖርበታል : :

11.3. በዚህ አንቀጽ ቁጥር 11.1 የተጠቀሰው እንደተጠበቀ ሆኖ አቤቱታ አቅራቢው በተጠቀሰው membership in the committee while the lack of discipline is to be dealt with according to the school's disciplinary measure.

11. Formalities to be fulfilled while making a Complaint

11.1. Anyone who complains that a less severe form of SRGBV has been committed on her/him, family memeber or care giver or any party whom the issue concerns should report within the next 10 working days since the violence was committed or was known to be committed in written form to the chair person or the secretary of the committee

11.2. Anyone who complains that a severe form of SRGBV has been committed on her/him, family or care giver or any party whom the issue concerns, it should be reported within the next 30 working days since the violence was committed or was known to be committed in written form to the chairs person or the secretary of the committee

11.3. While 11.1 of the code of conduct is applicable if the person reporting the violence explains that

34 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ጊዜ ውስጥ አቤቱታውን ማቅረብ ያልቻለው ከአቅም በላይ በሆነምክንያት መሆኑን ያስረዳ እንደሆነ አቤቱታ የማቅረቢያ ጊዜው የሚቆጠረው ከአቅም በላይ የሆነው ምክንያት ከተወገደበት ጊዜ ጀምሮ ይሆናል : :

11.4. በአቤቱታ ጣመልከቻ ውስሞ መካተት ስለሚገባቸው ዝርዝሮች ጣንኛውም የአቤቱታ ጣመልከቻ :-

ሀ. የአቤቱታ አቅራቢው ስም ከነ አያት

ለ. የሚማርበት ክፍል ፣ የሚያስተምርበት የትምህርት ክፍል ወይም የሚሰራበት የስራ ክፍል

ሐ. ድርጊቱ የተፈፀመበት ቀን፣ ቦታና ጊዜ

መ. ተፈፀመ የተባለው የጾታዊ ጥቃት ዓይነት/የድርጊቱ መገለጫዎች

ሥ. የሚታወቅ ከሆነ የጥቃቱ ፈባሚ ስምና የመጣሪያ ክፍል ፣
የትምሀርት ክፍል ወይም የሥራ
ክፍል ወይም ሌላ ጣንኛውንም
ዓይነት መለያ

ረ. ምስክር ካለ የምስክሩ ስም እና አድራሻ s/he could not report in the dates specified due to impossibilities the reporting time begins from the day where the reasons for impossibilities is solved or is no more hindrance to report the violence

11.4. Details to be included in the Report of Complaint

Every report of complaint should include the following:

a) Full name of the person reporting the complaint

b) The classroom s/he attends in, the department s/he teaches in or the department s/he works in

c) The date, place and time of the committed violence

 d) The type of the school related gender based violence/ expressions of the act

e) The name, classroom, teaching or work department or any form of identification of the person who is accused of committing the violence (if known)

f) The name and address of the witness (if there is/are witness/es)

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጽታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከከከቱ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

ስ. በአቤቱታ አቅራቢ እጅ የሚገኙ የጽሁፍም ሆነ ሌሎች ማስረጃዎች ወይም በእጅ የማይገኙ ከሆኑ የሚገኙበትን ቦታ

ቀ. የአቤቱታ አቅራቢ ፊርጣና አቤቱታ የቀረበበትን ቀን መያዝ ይኖርበታል ፡፡

12 . ጥበቃ ከሚያስፈክገው የትምህርት ቤት ጣህበረሰብ አባካት ስከሚደረግ ተገቢ ጥበቃ

ሀ. ዋበቃ የሚያስፈልገው ተማሪ በሆነበት ጊዜ ተማሪዉ የሚማርበት ክፍል እንዲለወጥለት ወይም ፊተናውና ተከታታይ ምዝናዉ በሌላ አራሚ እንዲታረምለት እና እንዲታይለት ማድረግ ፣

ለ. ጥበቃ የሚያስፈልገው መምህር மைற አስተዳደርና ድጋፍ <u>ሰ</u>...... 0645 ከሆነ በፍቃደኝነት D.S. 10 የስራ ክፍል ወይም 80% ቦታ እንዲዛወር. மை አቤቱታ ምንም h.817 የቀረበበት ĤΦ. ሞቃት እንዳያደርስ የግዴታ ሰንድ ጣስፈረምና ተገቢነት ያለው ጥበቃ ማድረግ : :

ሐ.ዋበቃ የሚያስፈልገው ርእስ መምህሩ ከሆነ አቤቱታ የቀረበበት ስዉ ምንም አይነት ጥቃት እንዳያደርስ የግዴታ ሰነድ ጣስፈረምና ተገቢነት ያለው ዋበቃ ማድረግ ፡፡ g) Written or other forms of evidence that are in the hands of the person who reports the complaint or if they are not available with the person who reports the complaint, the place where they are found

 h) The signature of the person who reported the complaint and the date when the report is submitted to the committee

12. Legitimate Protection for the member/s of the School Community who needs Protection

a) When it is a student that needs protection, safeguard her/his classroom attendance and ensure legitimate learning assessment results

b) When a teacher, administration staff or support staff needs protection, ensure her/his safety, or secure a signature of restraint form any attempt to harm the compliant

c) When the school principal needs legitimate protection make the person who is accused of committing the violence sign commitment of restraint from any harm

36

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ፈቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

13 . አቤቱታ ጣቅረብ ስከጣይቻbባቸው ሁኔታዎች

13.1. በዚህ መመሪያ ቁጥር 11.1 እና 11.2 የተጠቀሰው የአቤቱታ ጣቅረቢያ ጊዜ ያለፈ እንደሆነና በጣንኛውም ሁኔታ ዶታዊ ጥቃት ከተፈፀመበት ቀን ጀምሮ አንድ አመት ያለፈው እንደሆነ።

13.2 ቀደም ሲል ጉዳዩ በአቤቱታ አጣሪና የውሳኔ ሀሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ ታይቶ በየደረጃዉ ስልጣን ያለዉ የትምህርት መዋቅር የመጨረሻ ውሣኔ የተሰጠበት ከሆነ ፡ ፡

14. አቤቱታ የቀረበበት ሰው የመደመጥ መብት

ማንኛውም በጾታዊ ጥቃት ተግባር አቤቱታ የቀረበበት ሰው የቀረበበትን አቤቱታ የማወቅን ራሱን የመከላከልና የመደመዋ መብቱ የተጠበቀ ነው፡፡

15 . የዉሳቴ ዛሳብ አቀራረብና የዉሳቴ አሰጣጥ ስነስርባት፣

15.1 የአቤቱታ አጣሪና የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ በትምህርት ቤቱ ጣህበረሰብ አባላት የጾታዊ ጥቃት ድርጊት ተፈጽሞብኛል የሚል

13. Conditions where Complaints are not to be Reported

13.1. If the time limited specified in 11.1 and 11.2 has passed and if in any way one year has passed since the SRGBV has been committed

13.2. If the issue has already been investigated by the committee and the final decision has been made by the appropriate authority in the academic structure

14. The right of the accused

Anyone who is accused of committing gender based violence has the right to know the complaints reported against them, defend themselves and to be listened to of any possible explanations.

15. Formalities of recommending and making decisions

15.1. SRGBV Complaint Investigation and decisions providing committee investigates the complaint in not more than

37

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካኬ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools አቤቱታ ሲቀርብለት በመመርመር ከ30 ቀናት ባልበለጠ ጊዜ ዉስሞ ለርእስ መምህሩ በጹሁፍ የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ ያቀርባል።

15.2 የትምህርት ቤቱ ርእስ መምህር በኮሚቴዉ የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ ከቀረበለት ቀን ጀምሮ ከ5 ቀናት ባልበለጠ ጊዜ ውስጥ ጉዳዩን አጣርቶ በጹሁፍ ውሣኔ ይስጣል ፡ ፡

15.3 የትምህርት ቤቱ ርእስ መምህር የጾታዊ ጥቃት ፈፅሞብኛል የሚል አቤቱታ ለኮሚቴዉ ሲቀርብ አቤቱታውን በመመርመር ከ15 ቀናት ባልበለጠ ጊዜ ዉስጥ የውሳኔ ሃሳብ ለወረዳዉ ትምህርት ጽህፈት ቤት ያቀርባል።

15.4 በየደረጃዉ ያለዉ የትምህርት መዋቅር የዉሳኔ ሃሳብ በቀረበለት በ30 ቀናት ውስጥ ጉዳዩን አጣርቶ በጽሁፍ ውሣኔ ይሰጣል ፡፡

15.5 በዉሳኔ ሰጪ አካላት የተሰጡ ዉሳኔዎች ለባለጉዳዩና ለትምህርት ቤቱ ማህበረሰብ በማስታወቂያ ሰሌዳ መለጠፍ አለበት።

15.6 በዚህ መመሪያ መሠረት የሚሰጡ ጣናቸውም ዓይነት ውሣኔዎች አቤቱታ አቅራቢውንና አቤቱታ የቀረበበትን የትምህርት 30 days and provides decision in writing to the school director.

15.2. The school director clarifies the issue in not more than 5 days since the reception of the proposed decision by the committee and endorses the decision in writing.

15.3. When complaints are reported of the school director committing gender based violence the committee investigates the issue in not more than 15 days and passes the proposed decisions to the Woreda's education bureau.

15.4. The respective academic structure investigates the issue in not more than 30 days after the reception of the provided decisions by the committee and makes final verdict.

15.5. The decisions made should be announced for the person who has reported the complaint as well as to the school community.

15.6. Any verdict passed according to this code of conduct would not hold the person reporting the complaint or the member of school community accused for

38 -

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools ጣህበረሰብ አባል ጉዳዩ በሌሎች ሕጎች የተቀመጡ መደበኛ የፍርድ ሂደቶችን እንዳይከተል አያግዱትም ፡ ፡

16. ይግባኝ

16.1 በትምህርት ቤቱ ርእስ መምህር በተሰጠዉ ዉሳኔ ላይ ቅሬታ ያለዉ አካል ዉሳኔዉን ካወቀበት ቀን ጀምሮ በ30 የስራ ቀናት ውስጥ ይግባኙን በየደረጃዉ ስልጣን ያለዉ የትምህርት መዋቅር ማቅረብ አለበት : :

16.2 በየደረጃዉ ስልጣን ያለዉ የትምህርት መዋቅር ጉዳዩ በይግባኝ ሲቀርብለት እስከ አንድ ወር ባለዉ ጊዜ ውስሞ አጣርቶ ውሳኔ መስጠት አለበት ፡፡

17. የቅጣት ሪኮርድ መቆያ ጊዜ

17.1. ቀላል የጾታዊ ጥቃት የፊፀመና የተቀጣ የትምህርት ቤት ማህበረሰብ አባል የቅጣት 2.16 29°C ከጨረሰበት \$7 72-03 ለአንድ hapt የጥፋት SC7.4 በሪኮርድንት ይያዝበታል ፡፡

17.2. ጥቃት hag 8.5.2 የፊፀመና የተቀጣ የትምህርት ቤት ማህበረሰብ የቅጣት አባል 2.16 18.0 ከጨረሰበት ጀምሮ 4% ለሁለት አመት የዋፋት SC1+ በሪኮርድንት ይያዝበታል : : violence from presenting the case to court to be dealt with according to other national or regional laws.

16. Appeal

16.1. Any party that is dissatisfied with the final verdict can appeal to the next ladder in the education hierarchy within 30 working days from the date the decision is announced.

16.2. The respective body in the academic structure should investigate appeals and pass a decision within not more than a month.

17. The Time Limit of the Punishment Records

17.1. Decision passed on less severe form of SRGBV will be documented in perpetrator's personal file for one year.

17.2. Verdicts made for commitment of severe form of SRGBV will be documented in perpetrator's file for two years after punishment is concluded.

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካኬ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

40 —

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከከከል የወጣ ፈቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools



<mark>ክፍե አ</mark>ምስት፡ - ቴዮ ቴዮ ድንጋጌዎች

Part Five: Other Regulations

18 . የጾታዊ ጥቃት አጣሪና የውሣኔ ዛሳብ አቅራቢ ኮሚቴ ስከማቋቋም

ማንኛውም ትምህርት ቤት በትምህርት ቤቱ ማህበረሰብ አባላት መካከል የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን አጣርቶ የውሣኔ ሃሳብ የሚያቀርብ ኮሚቴ ያቋቁጣል ፡ ፡

19. ስከ ኬኰች ዋስተኛ ወገኖች

19.1 የተለያዩ ስራዎችን በትምህርት ቤቱ ውስጥ ለመስራት ከሚመለከተወ. የትምህርት መዋቅር ጋር ውል የሚገቡ የስራ ተቋራጮች ንድርጅቶች றதே ግለሰቦች በትምህርት ቤቱ ቅጥር ግቢ ውስሞ በሚቆዩበት ጊዜ በዚህ መመሪያ የተመለከቱ ድንጋጌዎችን እንዳይተላለፉ በማንበት D.A እንዲካተት መደረግ አለበት : :

19.2 ትምህርት ቤቱ ከሌሎች አካላት ጋር በሚያደርገዉ የዉል ስምምንት መሰረት ተማሪዎች ለተለያዩ ትምህርታዊ ጉብኝቶች ፤ስፖርታዊ ስልጠናዎች ፣ ከበረ

18. Establishing Gender Based Violence Complaint Investigation and decisions Recommending committee

Every school establishes a committee that investigates cases of school related gender based violence committed amongst the school community

19. Third Party

19.1. The declarations specified in this Code of Conduct should also be observed in case of any work agreement the school has made and engaged any individual or group that may have used accessing the school as an opportunity of committing gender based violence on any of the school community member

19.2. If students tour for academic reasons, sport related activities, festivals and other programs due to the agreements the school has with different

42 —

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools በዓላት እና ለሌሎች ጉዳዮች የሚሄዱ ከሆነ ከላይ በ19.1 የተጠቀሰዉ ተግባራዊ ይሆናል።

20. የስርዓተ ፆታ ክበብን በተመከከተ

ጣንኛውም ትምህርት ቤት የስርዓተ ጾታ ክበብ ጣቋቋምና የክበቡን ተጠሪ መመደብ አለበት ፡፡

21. የመተባበር ግዴታ

ማንኛውም የትምህርት ቤት ማህበረሰብ አባል የጾታዊ ጥቃት መሪ.ፀሙን ዓመቀ 2.16 6767 የጣድረግ ፣ለምስክርነት 1.06 የመቅረብ ፤ npc. うへんりキア ሆነ በተለያዩ ምክንያቶች 013. የሚገኙ መረጃዎችና ማስረጃዎችን 1mimt Port 90C 72.+ አለበት : :

በዚህ መመሪያ መሰረት የተሰጡትን ውሳኔ ሃሳቦች ማንኛውም ትምህርት ቤት ተግባራዊ የማድረግ ግዴታ ያለበት ሲሆን ተግባራዊ በማያደርጉት ትምህርት ቤቶች ላይ የሚመለከተዉ የመንግስት አካል ተገቢዉን እርምጃ ይወስዳል። academic institutions it should be conducted according to 19.1 of this Code of Conduct.

20. Establishment of Gender Club

For the sake of the implementation of the code of conduct and addressing other gender related issues, every school should establish gender club and assign a representative for it.

21. Obligation to Cooperate

Every member of the school community should report, cooperate to testify, pass on any information and evidence that is available at one's disposal related to work responsibilities or other reasons known to her/him. to SRGBV complaint investigation and decision recommending committee.

22. Reluctance of any School to Enforce this SRGBV Code of Conduct

Every school has the duty of enforcing the decisions passed according to this code of conduct. The respective government body takes appropriate measures on the schools that do not oblige.

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካኬ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

23. የመሸጋገሪያ ድንጋጌ

ይህ መመሪያ ከመውጣቱ በፊት የተጀመሩ የጾታዊ ጥቃት ክሶች ካሉ ቀደም ሲል በተጀመረበት ሁኔታ ተጣርተው ውሣኔ ያገኛሉ ፡፡

24. ተፈፃሚነት የኬካቸው መመሪያዎች

ይህን መመሪያ የሚቃረን ጣንኛውም በተቋሙ ዉስጥ ቀደም ብሎ የሚስራበት መመሪያ ወይም

የአመራር ልምድ ይህ መመሪያ ከወጣበት ቀን ጀምሮ ተግባራዊ አይሆንም : :

25. **መመሪያው**

የሚፀናበት ጊዜ

ይህ መመሪያ በትምህርት ሚኒስቴር ከፀደቀበት ቀን 2007 ዓ.ም ጀምሮ የፀና ይሆናል ፡ ፡

23. Transitional stipulation

Any case of SRGBV that has been investigated before the launching of this code of conduct will be handled according to pervious regulation of the school.

24. Inapplicability of the regulation

Any regulation or practice that has been applicable in the institution contrary to this code of conduct is not applicable since the day this code of conduct came in to force

25. Entry in to force

This code of conduct is applicable starting from the day it is issued by the Ministry of Education which is 2007 E.C.

44

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈፀም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመከካከክ የወጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools

በትምህርት ቤቶች የሚፈበም ጾታዊ ጥቃትን ከመካከካከ የመጣ ረቂቅ መመሪያ Code of Conduct on Prevention of School Related Gender Based Violence in Schools 45

_



Appendix 2 - SRGBV reporting template

SCHOOL RELATED GENDER BASED VIOLENCE REPORTING TEMPLATE

Name of the Region	Zone	Woreda	School	
School Level: Primary	Secondary			
Reporting Period: Month	Year			

GBV Monitoring and Reporting Template TYPE OF the School Related How many How many children are Type of Gender Based Violence Perpetrators/ (SRGBV) affected in actors of the each case violence Organization/ Major boys Student girls Action taken individuals involved Survivor's challenges in Teachers Others against each case in taking actions aftershock the process Total Student Total Boys Girls situation 1. Sexual violence 1.1. Rape 1.2. Attempted Rape 1.3. Sexual Harassment 1.4. Forced Marriage 1.5. Early Marriage 2. Physical violence 2.1. Corporal punishmen 2.2. Domestic Violence 3. Psychological violence 3.1. Abuse/humiliation 4. Other Gender-Based Violence 5. Non-Gender-Based Violence TOTAL (ALL TYPES)

SCHOOL RELATED GENDER BASED VIOLENCE REPORTING TEMPLATE

Condition of the survivor after the Number of students Remark Number of students provided with incident Type of supports given affected support Who provided Others Continued Dropped TYPE OF INCIDENT **Fotal** Boys **Fotal** Girls Boys Girls the support from education school 1. Sexual violence 1.1. Rape 1.2. Attempted Rape 1.3. Sexual Harassment 1.4. Forced Marriage 1.5. Early Marriage 2. Physical violence 2.3. Corporal punishment 2.4. Domestic Violence 3. Psychological violence 3.2. Abuse/hur 4. Other Gender-Based Violences 5. Non-Gender-Based Violences TOTAL (ALL TYPES)

Supports given to the victims of violence

2

Appendix

School Related Gender-Based Violence (SRGBV)

Definition

SRGBV includes any form of violence or abuse that is based on gender stereotypes or that targets students on the basis of their sex. SRGBV can take place in school buildings, school grounds, or going to and from school, and may be perpetrated by teachers, students or community members. Girl and boy students can be victims or perpetrators.

Forms of Violence included in the reporting templates

SRGBVs are multifaceted and take different forms. Only the most common SRGBVs are included in the reporting templates and by no means are exhaustive. For practical terms, they are grouped into four categories:

1. Sexual Violence

Sexual violence could take different forms, as follows;

- 1.1.Rape- The invasion of any part of the body of the victim or of the perpetrator with a sexual organ, or of the anal or genital opening of the victim with any object or any other part of the body by force, threat of force, coercion, taking advantage of a coercive environment, or against a person incapable of giving genuine consent (International Criminal Court)
- 1.2. Attempted rape- attempted forced/ coerced intercourse;
- **1.3.Sexual harassment** Any unwelcome, usually repeated and unreturned sexual advance, unsolicited sexual attention, demand for sexual access or favors, sexual innuendo or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature, display of pornographic material, when it interferes with work, is made a condition of employment or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment.
- 1.4. Early marriage- Arranged marriage under the age of legal consent (sexual intercourse in such relationships constitutes, as the girls are not legally competent to agree to such unions). Please include school girls and even boys married before completing their school-age especially if they are in the school age.
- **1.5.Forced marriage** Arranged marriage against the victim's/survivor's wishes; often a dowry is paid to the family; when refused, there are violent and/or abusive consequences.

2. Physical Violence

2.1.Corporal punishment- boys and girls may face gender based corporal punishment, forced labor, fighting, and bullying. It involves any gender based punishment in which physical force is used to cause some degree of pain or discomfort, however minimal. This type of violence involves hitting children with the

hand or an implement (e.g., whip, stick, belt, and shoe). It can also involve kicking, shaking, scratching, pinching, biting, pulling hair, boxing ears, burning, scalding, forced ingestion of soap or hot spices, throwing children, or forcing children to stay in uncomfortable positions.

2.2.Domestic Violence- excessive load of household chores and any other physical punishment at home due to gender stereotyping that negatively affects student learning and health.

3. Psychological and Emotional Violence

- 3.1.Abuse/Humiliation- Non-sexual verbal abuse that entails harassment or exploitation with the intent to degrade or demoralize student on the basis of her/his sex. It is compelling the victim/survivor to engage in humiliating acts, whether in public or private, in the classroom or out of class. This can be perpetrated by teachers, fellow children, or families; it could happen through verbal harassment, bullying, teasing, or degrading and cruel punishment. Teachers may use non-physical punishment that humiliates, defames, threatens, scares, or ridicules children.
- 4. **Other Gender Based Violence** includes all SRGBV not included in the aforementioned three major categories.
- 5. **Non-Gender Based Violence-** includes any violence against the child student irrespective of their sex. For example, corporal punishments against both girls and boys indiscriminately falls under non- gender based violence

Purpose

While gender-based violence has a devastating impact on the lives of women and girls who are the majority of victims/survivors, it also hinders the development of men and boys. SRGBV hampers the right to access quality education that ultimately results in creating obstacle to efforts of realizing gender equality in education. Eliminating gender-based violence and gender inequalities helps to strengthen entire communities. Although the efforts have shown promising progress towards reducing SRGBV, there is little monitoring and reporting actions for further movements for mitigating the problem it is exerting on enrollment, performance and completion of children especially girls education.

© UCL Institute of Education University College London 20 Bedford Way London, WC1H 0AL

February 2019

www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe